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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning,

          3  everyone.  My name is John Liu.  I have the

          4  privilege of Chairing this Committee.  I want to

          5  welcome everyone to today's hearing on Intro. 276,

          6  introduced by Council Member Gale Brewer.  This bill

          7  would close of the Central Park loop drive from June

          8  24th through September 24th, and the Prospect Park

          9  loop drive in the late morning, afternoon, and

         10  evenings during the same dates.

         11                 Central Park and Prospect Park are

         12  two great jewels of New York City.  They provide a

         13  serene and beautiful landscape for New Yorkers, from

         14  the hustle and bustle of our busy City.  One thing

         15  that can be done to make these great parks even more

         16  of an escape, is to prohibit cars from traveling

         17  through them.  New Yorkers go to the parks to escape

         18  pollution and traffic.  And yet, we subject them to

         19  pollution and traffic when we allow traffic and cars

         20  in the parks.

         21                 Yesterday, the Mayor announced the

         22  closing of Central Park and Prospect Park loop

         23  drives for some additional hours.  And we are truly

         24  grateful for him seeing the light of the importance

         25  of this issue.  But the additional sporadic closings
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          2  that he's proposed will not go far enough towards

          3  restoring our parks for the people of New York City.

          4    And in fact, may add to the confusion that people

          5  have, people who use the parks, in terms of when

          6  they can expect to see cars, and when they can

          7  expect that the parks would truly be car free.

          8                 The Committee recognizes that closing

          9  of parks to traffic is a complex issue.  Many people

         10  living near the parks fear additional traffic and

         11  pollution on their streets.  Advocates for closing

         12  the parks believe that the impact on neighboring

         13  communities will be minimal, and they point to the

         14  health benefits of car- free parks.  But until we

         15  close the parks to traffic for the Summer, and

         16  require the Department of Transportation to conduct

         17  community traffic studies, we may never know what

         18  the real effects of closing these two parks to

         19  traffic are.

         20                 This bill will give us answers to

         21  this debate.  The bill creates a pilot program where

         22  we will close the parks to traffic just for this

         23  Summer.  During that period, the Department of

         24  Transportation can conduct its necessary studies,

         25  and determine the true impact on the surrounding
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          2  communities.  We can analyze the changes in traffic

          3  to see if we should do this again next year. This is

          4  a very reasonable approach, and one that will allow

          5  us to make statements based upon facts rather than

          6  speculation.

          7                 The Mayor has been a great advocate

          8  for creating healthy environments for New Yorkers.

          9  And again, we want to thank him.  We do want to work

         10  with him on this issue, as well as other health

         11  issues, such as banning smoking from bars and other

         12  indoor places.  And we look forward to working

         13  closely with the Department of Transportation and

         14  also the Department of Parks on this initiative to

         15  truly make these two jewels of our park system truly

         16  car free.

         17                 At this time I'd like to introduce my

         18  colleagues who are here at this hearing.  Starting

         19  from my right, we have Council Member Darlene Mealy,

         20  from Brooklyn; Council Member Andrew Lanza, from

         21  Staten Island; Council Member Daniel Garodnick, from

         22  Manhattan; Council Member  --  from the left  --

         23  Council Member Olive Koppell, from the Bronx;

         24  Council Member Joseph Addabbo, from Queens; Council

         25  Member Miguel Martinez, from Manhattan; and Council
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          2  Member Gale Brewer, from Manhattan.  And behind us,

          3  sitting in the almighty greatness, we have Council

          4  Member Michael McMahon, from

          5  Staten Island.  And we're joined by Council Member

          6  Simcha Felder, from Brooklyn.

          7                 At this time, I'll turn the floor

          8  over to Council Member Gale Brewer, the sponsor of

          9  Intro. 276.  Council Member Brewer.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: First of all,

         11  I want to thank Council Member John Liu, for holding

         12  this hearing well before the Summer.  And certainly

         13  the Speaker.

         14                 There are two reasons why I think

         15  car- free hours in Central and Prospect Parks are

         16  extremely important.  Obviously, for all the health

         17  issues.  For those of us with families, able to

         18  utilize the park in the exercise and the family-

         19  friendly way in which I think the parks were

         20  designed.  And in today's world, where we are

         21  focusing on health issues, and obesity, these are

         22  places where those issues can be addressed.

         23                 The second is, and I said this

         24  earlier, is that as somebody who represents the west

         25  side of Manhattan, right along the park, if traffic
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          2  is the issue, as to why we're not supportive, as an

          3  Administration of a car- free pilot project this

          4  Summer, then I, perhaps, should be the one to

          5  complain the most.  Because if traffic leaves the

          6  park, it will go, perhaps, on Columbus.  Perhaps on

          7  Central Park West, or perhaps on the Eastside, the

          8  Fifth Avenue, et cetera.  I can't  --  I don't think

          9  there are many Westsiders who are worried about that

         10  traffic issue.  What they want is the park to be car

         11  free.  And so, as somebody who represents an area

         12  that could be impacted adversely by a car- free

         13  park, I want to make it very clear that that is not

         14  a goal.  The goal is, and the worry is, that the

         15  park not be car free.

         16                 And so, I say very strongly that

         17  Intro. 276 should be supported.  We support  --

         18  we're pleased that the Mayor have a first step, but

         19  it should be noted that yesterday, he said himself,

         20  that he would like to see a car- free park.  The

         21  issue is traffic. So in that traffic, I think, would

         22  dissipate, but of course, only a full experiment

         23  during the Summer would verify that.  And that's

         24  another reason to be supportive.  Do the experiment.

         25    See if it works.  Then those of us who live in
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          2  surrounding neighborhoods will be able to assess

          3  whether or not there's really a problem.  Thank you

          4  very much Mr. Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

          6  Council Member Brewer.  We are about to start our

          7  testimony.  Again, I think Council Member Brewer

          8  said it very well.  The issue is  --  the main

          9  question before us today is whether the park drives

         10  are a necessary part of our street grid.  Are they

         11  integral to our street grid?  Or are they additional

         12  venues that actually may introduce more traffic than

         13  is necessary?  Even on the surrounding streets. And

         14  the big question boils down to this: What are our

         15  parks really about?  What kinds of sounds do we want

         16  to hear in the parks?  Do we want to hear the sounds

         17  of children playing in the playground, and birds

         18  chirping in the trees?  Or do we want to hear the

         19  sound of cars revving their engine and screeching

         20  their brakes?

         21                 So we look forward to helpful

         22  testimony.  And at this time, we are delighted to be

         23  joined by the Commissioner of the City Department of

         24  Transportation, Iris Weinshall.  And DOT Deputy

         25  Commissioner, Michael Primeggia.  And First Deputy
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          2  Commissioner, Liam Kavanagh, from the Department of

          3  Parks and Recreation.

          4                 Good morning Commissioner.

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Good morning

          6  Mr. Chairman. I'm a little winded.  I ran over here.

          7

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Take a moment, catch

          9  your breath.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Okay.  I

         11  think I'm ready.

         12                 Good morning Chairman Liu and Members

         13  of the Transportation Commission (sic). I'm Iris

         14  Weinshall, Commissioner of the New York City

         15  Department of Transportation.  And with me here

         16  today is Michael Primeggia, DOT's Deputy

         17  Commissioner for Traffic Operations; and Liam

         18  Kavanagh, First Deputy Commissioner at the Parks

         19  Department.  Thank you for inviting us here today to

         20  testify on Intro. 276.

         21                 Intro. 276 restricts motor vehicle

         22  traffic in Central Park and Prospect Park loops from

         23  June 24th to September 24th of this year.  The bill

         24  proposes that the Central Park loop drive be closed

         25  to motor vehicle traffic at all times, and that the
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          2  Prospect Park loop drive be open to vehicular

          3  traffic only between the hours of seven and nine

          4  a.m. in the weekdays.  In addition, it requires DOT

          5  to conduct a study and submit a report detailing the

          6  effects of closing off the respective loop drives.

          7                 Let me begin by stating that Central

          8  Park and Prospect Park are two of New York's

          9  greatest recreational treasures, but the loop drives

         10  through these parks are also critical transportation

         11  links for commuter.  DOT has conducted traffic

         12  studies in both parks in the past, which determined

         13  that closing the loop drives would significantly

         14  increase traffic congestion on the surrounding

         15  streets.  Nevertheless, DOT recognizes the need to

         16  strike a balance between recreational and motorized

         17  traffic in our parks.  That is why we have made

         18  numerous efforts over the years to minimize motor

         19  vehicle traffic by ensuring that vehicles are only

         20  permitted when absolutely necessary, during peak

         21  driving periods.

         22                 For over four decades, there has been

         23  a movement to enhance the recreational conditions in

         24  the parks by reducing motor vehicle use.  Park

         25  drives were closed to vehicles on weekends, holiday,
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          2  and portions of weekdays starting in the 1970s.

          3  Dedicated traffic lanes for bicycles and pedestrians

          4  were added in the late 1970s and 1980s.  As I just

          5  mentioned, extensive traffic studies conducted in

          6  the 1990s revealed that loop drive closures would

          7  significantly increase traffic congestion on the

          8  surrounding streets.  These studies did, however,

          9  determine that a number of entrances and exits could

         10  be closed.

         11                 A recent DOT analysis of the traffic

         12  impact associated with The Gates exhibit confirmed

         13  our earlier traffic impact findings in Central Park.

         14    The Gates required a full closure of the Central

         15  Park loop drives for the setup and dismantling of

         16  the exhibit, and partial closure during the two-

         17  week exhibit in February of 2005.  Our analysis

         18  found that there were significant increases in

         19  volume on most roadways in the vicinity of the park.

         20                 And Mr. Chairman, although I did not

         21  bring the report with me, DOT had conducted an

         22  extensive report, which can be found on our website.

         23    And if any Members of the Committee would like a

         24  hard copy, we'd be happy to forward it to Members of

         25  the Committee.
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          2                 Nevertheless, the Bloomberg

          3  Administration has made a number of changes to

          4  minimize the impact of motor vehicles in the parks

          5  in recent years.  In November of 2004, DOT and the

          6  Parks Department implemented a program to improve

          7  the overall usability of the Central Park loop

          8  drives.  An HOV two lane on the West Drive was

          9  instituted during the morning rush.  Speed limits

         10  were lowered from 30 miles an hour to 25 miles per

         11  hour.  And entrances and exits on 72nd Street, 77th

         12  Street, 90th Street, and 102nd Street were closed.

         13  In January of 2005, Central Park loop drive closure

         14  hours were expanded to include the overnight hours

         15  of ten p.m. to seven a.m., to accommodate early

         16  morning recreational users. Similarly, DOT and the

         17  Parks expanded "Summer Hours" in Prospect Park in

         18  2003, limiting motorists' use of the park drives to

         19  peak driving periods.  These changes were made

         20  permanent in 2004.

         21                 Currently, the Central Park look

         22  drive is open to motor vehicle traffic only on

         23  weekdays from seven to ten a.m., and from three to

         24  seven p.m.  It is closed all other times during the

         25  weekdays, and it is closed entirely on the weekends
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          2  and holidays. Motor vehicles are permitted in

          3  Prospect Park only from seven a.m. to nine a.m., and

          4  from five p.m. to seven p.m. On weekdays.  While the

          5  current arrangement strikes a reasonable balance

          6  between competing interests of recreational and

          7  motorized traffic, we do feel that this balance can

          8  be improved upon to better accommodate recreational

          9  needs.  Intro. 276, however, goes too far in

         10  limiting the availability of the drives to

         11  motorists, and would force thousands of motor

         12  vehicles onto our already congested streets during

         13  the busiest times.  That is why the Administration

         14  is opposed to this bill, and believes that there is

         15  a better solution.

         16                 Yesterday, Mayor Bloomberg,

         17  Commissioner Benepe and I announced that the City

         18  will conduct a six- month pilot of closures during

         19  the peak hours in both Central and Prospect Parks,

         20  from June to November.  Vehicles will no longer be

         21  able to use Central Park's West Drive in the

         22  afternoon.  As a result, the West Drive will now be

         23  closed to vehicles 91 percent of the time each week.

         24    Motor vehicles will also be restricted from

         25  Central Park's East Drive, north of 72nd Street, in
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          2  the morning, leaving it closed to vehicles 88

          3  percent of the time each week.  Prospect Park's West

          4  Drive will also be closed in the mornings, leaving

          5  it closed to motor vehicles 94 percent of the time

          6  each week.

          7                 DOT will be collecting data during

          8  this period and will study the impact of the

          9  closures before coming to a decision on whether to

         10  make these changes permanent.  We believe that the

         11  pilot program will provide a noticeable improvement

         12  to recreational park users during the Summer season,

         13  while allowing us to continue to address the City's

         14  traffic management needs.

         15                 Thank you for inviting me here today.

         16    And we will be happy to answer any questions at

         17  this time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you

         19  Commissioner.  Do we have any testimony from the

         20  Parks Department?  Or Mr. Kavanagh is here for

         21  question and answer?

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: He's here

         23  just to answer questions and help me out.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well thank you very

         25  much for the testimony.  And once again, we thank
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          2  the Mayor and the Administration for the

          3  announcement yesterday that will expand the number

          4  of car- free hours in the parks.  We are concerned

          5  though, that there might be some additional

          6  confusion created by the different  --  the various

          7  different hours that affect different parts of the

          8  park drives in the different parks.  And so,

          9  hopefully, the education outreach to the community

         10  will be full and comprehensive.

         11                 Let me mention that we've been joined

         12  by Council Member Diana Reyna, from Brooklyn.

         13                 Strike that last comment from the

         14  record.  From Council Member Miguel Martinez.  The

         15  study that you cited about  -- that was conducted

         16  during the closure of the park for The Gates

         17  exhibit, how long was that period?

         18                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I'm going to

         19  ask Commissioner Primeggia.  Because it was his

         20  division that conducted the study.  We'll let him

         21  answer the questions.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: The

         23  data was collected in both January and February of

         24  2005.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So what was the
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          2  period of time during which the park drive was

          3  closed?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: There

          5  were several periods when it was closed completely

          6  for the setup and the dismantling.  And there were

          7  several weeks when it was closed partially to handle

          8  The Gates.  The exact dates are in the report, and I

          9  can provide those for you after the hearing.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Are we talking about

         11  five days? Ten days?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: It was

         13  at least ten days of complete closure.  But I'm not

         14   --  I don't have the exact number of days  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I know.  But

         16  roughly, how many?  To the nearest five days.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: The

         18  complete closure was at least ten days.  The partial

         19  closure was probably even longer.  The partial

         20  closure was for the 15 days of The Gates exhibit.

         21  And the setup and breakdown was at least ten days,

         22  and probably longer.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I think it would be

         24  hard to draw a conclusive determination from closing

         25    --  from studying the impact on traffic due to the
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          2  closure of the park loop for a matter of days, as

          3  opposed to the three- months that this bill

          4  anticipates.

          5                 When we're talking about changing

          6  traffic patterns, or even studying the change in

          7  traffic patterns, to look at a period of over a few

          8  days, when people don't necessarily  --  have not

          9  necessarily gotten accustomed to the closures,

         10  that's not the same as the traffic changes that

         11  would occur if over a period of several weeks,

         12  people came to realize fully that the drive was no

         13  longer available for motorists to use.  And so once

         14  again, I would encourage you to think about whether

         15  it makes sense to extrapolate a study conducted over

         16  a few days versus something that  --  versus what

         17  the true impact of closing the drive for several

         18  weeks, in this case, three months, would be.

         19                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I just want

         20  to point out that this was actually under the best

         21  of circumstances, in terms of the park drive being

         22  closed.  We had enforced a construction embargo on

         23  the streets, both east side and west side of Central

         24  Park.  And I see Council Member Brewer is nodding

         25  her head.  We had exorbitant number of both police
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          2  officials as well as traffic enforcement agents who

          3  were able to move the traffic, because there was an

          4  enormous amount of traffic, both on the east side

          5  and the west side.

          6                 So that study really showed the best

          7  of circumstances.  I would dare say that we could

          8  not enforce a construction embargo during this

          9  period of time, because quite frankly, the Summer

         10  and the Spring is when a lot of the construction is

         11  able to happen in and around the streets of New York

         12  City.

         13                 As well, I am not so confident that

         14  the Police Department would have the type of

         15  resources necessary to enforce the traffic

         16  regulations that would need to be enforced both on

         17  the east side and west side.

         18                 So Councilman, I will be happy to

         19  deliver a copy of that report to your office, and I

         20  would encourage you and your staff to read it, and

         21  Mike will be available to answer any and all

         22  questions.  But I hope you keep in mind, when you

         23  read the report, that this was conducted under the

         24  best of circumstances for us, right?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It's unclear what
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          2  the best of circumstances actually means.  Based on

          3  the conclusions of that report, conducted during The

          4  Gates exhibit, it would seem illogical for the Mayor

          5  to have made the announcement yesterday in the first

          6  place.  Because, as you suggest, that report

          7  concludes that the traffic impact from closing the

          8  park loops would be enormously burdensome for the

          9  local community.  So given that Gates study, or the

         10  study conducted during The Gates exhibit why then,

         11  would the Mayor announce yesterday that additional

         12  portions of the park loops would be closed?

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Let me just

         14  say that Commissioner Benepe and I have been talking

         15  for a number of years about making enhancements to

         16  both Central and Prospect Park.  As I mentioned in

         17  my testimony, over the last couple of years, we have

         18  really announced some  --  we think, substantial

         19  improvements to the parks, both the HOV2, the

         20  restricting of the speed limits, as well as opening

         21  and closing of certain entrances and exits.

         22                 Let me say that the closing of the

         23  loop drives is not the responsibility of the Police

         24  Department.  The Parks Department closes and opens

         25  the drives in both the parks.  And the Commissioner
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          2  and I felt that based on the information that we

          3  had, that clearly, in Prospect Park, the numbers

          4  that we have, and clearly, these are older numbers.

          5  The last time we studied Prospect Park was 1996.

          6  That there was about 370- odd vehicles that were

          7  using the West Drive in the morning.  I have to tell

          8  you Councilman, that I walk in the park in the

          9  morning.  And observed that there were not that many

         10  cars using the West Drive.  And asked the staff to

         11  take a look, and Commissioner Benepe and I continued

         12  our discussion about Prospect Park, and how we can

         13  really offer the park more to recreational use.

         14                 Likewise, when we looked at the

         15  numbers for Central Park, in the off- peak hour, the

         16  East and West Drives, we felt that those numbers,

         17  that we have now, that we have today, was

         18  manageable.  And clearly, if you go into Prospect

         19  Park today, as I know the Councilwomen went

         20  yesterday, we've already put our counters down in

         21  Prospect Park.  And we'll be getting data  --  am I

         22  right, Mike?    --  Almost instantaneously, to sort

         23  of ascertain how many cars are in truth, in fact,

         24  using the West Drive.

         25                 So the current data that we're going
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          2  to get over the next few weeks, we think will be

          3  more relevant than the study either done in 1996 or

          4  quite frankly, done in 2005, during what we consider

          5  extraordinary circumstances in Central Park.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And I think that's

          7  all fine, and we actually, I think we generally

          8  agreed with the actions that you have taken, that

          9  the Administration and your Department and the

         10  Department of Parks have taken thus far.  But I

         11  think what we're saying here also, and I know we'll

         12  hear from many of the people in the public, is that

         13  while we welcome the Mayor's announcements

         14  yesterday, we think that at least during the Summer

         15  months, it makes sense to completely close off these

         16  parks to vehicular traffic.

         17                 It's not only the volume of traffic

         18  that is seen in the parks.  But it is also the

         19  expectation, or I think more aptly put, the fear of

         20  fast- moving traffic that is a problem for park

         21  goers.  And in fact, deters people from using the

         22  parks as much as they should be used.

         23                 I think a more fundamental question

         24  is, what exactly is the purpose of these parks?  Now

         25  there has been a great deal of literature written
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          2  about this topic.  And let's take Central Park for

          3  instance.  There has been a great deal of literature

          4  written about how Central Park was created as a

          5  refuge for city dwellers from the everyday hustle

          6  and bustle of city life.  And yet, traffic and

          7  moving cars is certainly a big part of the hustle

          8  and bustle of city life.  So when did it become   --

          9    well, we know it became  -  the parks became a

         10  thoroughfare of sorts many decades ago. Certainly

         11  before your administration in the Department of

         12  Transportation.  But why is it necessary today to

         13  continue to use our parks as a thoroughfare for

         14  traffic?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: I

         16  guess maybe I'm the best one to talk about why the

         17  park drives are an important transportation

         18  component.  We keep forgetting that the changes that

         19  we've made in the parks, the Administration has made

         20  in the parks, over the years, has restored the park

         21  to non- vehicle usage for most of the hours in the

         22  week. In fact, the only times the park drives are

         23  open to vehicles are during those time when it's

         24  absolutely necessary to keep them open to traffic

         25  and that is during peak times, the peak travel
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          2  times, in the peak directions.  The change that the

          3  Mayor announced yesterday, closes the park in the

          4  off- peak direction during peak times.   And it is

          5  really during the peak times and the peak direction

          6  that the park drives provide that vital

          7  transportation link.  For example, every holiday

          8  season, the park drives are reopened to cars during

          9  weekdays, because of the additional traffic that's

         10  generated into the City during that critical six or

         11  seven- week period.

         12                 Similarly, the entrance from Sixth

         13  Avenue on the East Drive, to the exit on 72nd

         14  Street, is open for most of the day, most of the

         15  business day, again, because it provides a vital

         16  transportation link for to move vehicles north out

         17  of Midtown.

         18                 Let's be clear.  Council Member

         19  Brewer mentioned in her introductory statement that

         20  she is not concerned about traffic being diverted

         21  from the park drives onto other roadways.  We, at

         22  the Department, are very concerned about that

         23  aspect.  Particularly during the peak hours.

         24  Because the traffic will seek other routes.  It has

         25  always sought other routes when portions of the
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          2  transportation network were closed.  I'll remind you

          3  that the Department of Transportation has been

          4  taking data and collecting data during a host of

          5  incidents that have occurred throughout its history.

          6    When the Westside Highway fell, and the Westside

          7  Highway was closed, those vehicles did not disappear

          8  from the traffic stream.  Rather, they sought

          9  alternate routes.  Some of those alternate routes

         10  were the FDR Drive, which say traffic volumes

         11  increase by 30 to 40 percent when the Westside

         12  Highway was closed. However,   --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Primeggia, I

         14  think  --

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: No,

         16  just let me finish.  However, the balance of that

         17  traffic sought the avenues in Manhattan.  They did

         18  not disappear.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We don't dispute

         20  that traffic will find alternate routes.  There's no

         21  question about that.  Traffic is not just going to

         22  stop in the middle of the street.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: And

         24  during those hours when other routes are

         25  particularly burdensome, during the peak times,
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          2  during the peak travel times, that is exactly the

          3  point of time when you're suggesting that the

          4  Department force those vehicles that are currently

          5  using the park drives onto those over burdened

          6  routes --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: What we're really

          8  suggesting, Deputy Commissioner,  --   or maybe even

          9  not suggest yet  --  is why is it that the park is

         10  considered an integral part of your transportation

         11  network?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: It's

         13  simply because the roadways were created   --  the

         14  park was built with   --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Were the roadways

         16   --

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA:

         18  Absolutely.  The park was built with carriageways.

         19  The vehicles, when the park was built, there were no

         20  motor vehicles.  There were, however, carriages.

         21  Horse- drawn carriages.  And those carriage ways

         22  were converted for use by automobiles when the

         23  automobile was created. It has long been, it has

         24  long been an integral part of the transportation

         25  network.  Since the motor vehicle was created.  And
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          2  the carriage roads were paved.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The park drives,

          4  unlike the rest of the street grid, the park drives

          5  don't have  --  there's nobody driving the park

          6  drives to get to some point during the park drive.

          7  People get in at a certain point, and get out at a

          8  certain point. So it's almost like a highway to

          9  motorists.  It's not like the rest of the streets,

         10  where you have some people stopping along the way.

         11  It's simply, people get into the drive and then they

         12  leave the drive at the exit.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA:

         14  Absolutely Council Member.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And so, it's a

         16  highway.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: No,

         18  it's not a highway.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It's like a highway.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA:

         21  Absolutely not.  It is  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It's got restricted

         23  access. Restricted entry and restricted exits.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: It

         25  absolutely has restricted entrances and exists.  But
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          2  it serves the long haul trip. If you  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's right.

          4  That's what a highway does.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: No,

          6  no.  No.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: A highway serves

          8  long haul trips.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Let's

         10  be clear.  If you don't have the park drives, those

         11  long haul trips will be competing with the shorter

         12  trips that are made on the avenues and streets

         13  surrounding both parks.  In Brooklyn, for example,

         14  there are only three roadways that those vehicles

         15  can go to.  One is Flatbush Avenue in the northbound

         16  direction.  And in the southbound direction, is

         17  Prospect Park South, and Prospect Park West.  And

         18  Prospect Park Southwest.  That would be where those

         19  vehicles would be forced to use.  Because the grid

         20  in Brooklyn is not half as good as the grid in

         21  Manhattan.  But those trips will still be made, and

         22  those long term trips will be competing with the

         23  shorter trips that are necessarily made on the

         24  avenues.  In fact, we see that every holiday.  Every

         25  election day.  Every Columbus Day.  Every Veterans
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          2  Day.  When the park drives are closed, we see

          3  extraordinary congestion leaving Midtown, because

          4  the park drive, between the Sixth Avenue entrance

          5  and the 72nd Street exit is closed, and those

          6  vehicles are forced to seek the avenues that border

          7  the park.  We see that every day during those

          8  holidays.  And that is times when volumes are

          9  significantly lower, because the public sector

         10  doesn't work.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Deputy Commissioner,

         12  I think that there's a vast difference of opinion

         13  about whether Central Park, as an example, whether

         14  Central Park should be considered a highway, or it

         15  should be considered space for recreational use by

         16  New Yorkers. And --

         17                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Mr. Chairman,

         18  I just want to make it clear.  In no way does the

         19  Department of Transportation consider either of the

         20  drives in Central Park or Prospect Park highways.

         21  As a matter of fact, they're under the control, not

         22  of DOT, but of the Parks Department.  So they are

         23  not in any way on our highway grid, nor do we

         24  consider them highways.  As a matter of fact, we

         25  lowered the speed limit in Prospect Park, something
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          2  you clearly couldn't  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Highways aren't

          4  necessarily determined by the speed with which cars

          5  move.  In fact, if you look at many of our highways

          6  in our City, they're highways, and yet the average

          7  speed is like ten miles per hour.

          8                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well that's

          9  if there's congestion.  But I sort of take issue

         10  with your sort of defining them as highways.  We

         11  don't in the Department, and I think that Deputy

         12  Commissioner Primeggia, who has been in this line of

         13  business for almost 30 years, and has been

         14  responsible for the streets and the highways, in no

         15  way has ever viewed it or defined it as a highway.

         16  So I think on this side of the table, we would take

         17  issue with that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right.  Well, I

         19  think   --  I mean, I understand that you have a

         20  technical definition of highway. For many people in

         21  New York, a highway simply means a way to get from

         22  one point to another that is relatively distant in

         23  length, and has restricted entry and exits.  And

         24  that, to the average person, is what I consider a

         25  highway.

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 Mr. Primeggia, you talk a lot about

          3  the cars.  But what we're asking for is not

          4  something that's year round.  We're simply asking,

          5  through this bill, Council Member Brewer's bill, a

          6  three- month period.  And we're not even asking for

          7  a permanent change here.  We're asking for one

          8  Summer, so that your Department can truly analyze

          9  the impact of closing the park drives for these

         10  three months during the summertime.  During the

         11  summertime.  It's not a question of counting how

         12  many cars there are.  I would ask you, have you

         13  talked to the Parks Department to consider, or to

         14  ask them whether they've counted the number of

         15  people using the parks. And has that entered the

         16  considerations?

         17                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: If I can just

         18  say, you know, as I said before, Commissioner Benepe

         19  and I have been talking about his issue for years.

         20  This is not something that just sort of emerged on

         21  our radar screen.  I just want to point out that

         22  yes, we do talk about the number of people who do

         23  use the parks.  But if I could just go back to my

         24  testimony, Mr. Chairman.  Which is that, as a result

         25  of the changes that the Mayor recommended yesterday,
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          2  that will go into effect on June 5th, I just want to

          3  point out again, as a result of the West Drive being

          4  closed in Central Park, the park will be closed 91

          5  percent of the week.  Clearly that's a lot.  The

          6  East Drive will be closed 88 percent.  And in

          7  Prospect Park, it will be closed 94 percent.  So

          8  that is a lot of time for recreational use.

          9  Unimpeded by any vehicles going near or touching

         10  those folks, including myself, who walk, run, or

         11  bicycle, or just want to picnic in the park.

         12                 So I would ask, Mr. Chairman, that

         13  you sort of keep that in mind.  It's not 100

         14  percent, clearly.  But the other thing I'd like to

         15  say is, you know, everyone sort of thinks that the

         16  summertime is this magical time when all New Yorkers

         17  leave the City.  I would dare say, Mr. Chairman,

         18  that we have a lot of people in New York during the

         19  Summer.  A lot of them are tourists and there are a

         20  lot of just plain folks who are continuing to work

         21  each and every day.  So the summertime continues to

         22  be a very vibrant, busy time in the City, where we

         23  still have lots of people working, lots of people

         24  coming and going.  And we have lots of tourists

         25  coming into the City, which is all good for the
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          2  economy of the City.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And it's precisely

          4   --  the fact that the City continues to be so

          5  vibrant during the summertime. Especially when

          6  school is out, and kids are trying to enjoy the

          7  parks that we're asking for the Administration to go

          8  100 percent on this.  That to truly analyze the

          9  impact of closing the park drives, it is

         10  insufficient, and inadequate, and probably will lead

         11  to false conclusions if the drives are closed only

         12  for a certain portion of the time.  Though it may be

         13  the majority of the time.

         14                 The real way to study the impact of

         15  whether or not to close the drives, and the real way

         16  to study whether those drives are an integral part

         17  of the City's street grid, if you don't want to call

         18  it highways, is to completely close it off just for

         19  a period of months, three months, for one year only.

         20    And let's take a look to see what kind of impact

         21  the surrounding streets truly have, if we are to

         22  enact that.

         23                 Let me turn the floor over to Council

         24  Member Brewer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you Mr.
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          2  Chairman, for all your support.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm sorry.  Let me

          4  mention that Council Member Jessica Lappin, of

          5  Manhattan has joined us as well. Council Member

          6  Brewer.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 First of all, I thank you for the

         10  steps that you have made, and I know that they go to

         11  November, and we were only talking about three

         12  months.  So thank you for the extra time, in terms

         13  of your suggestions.

         14                 Of course, I do live right half a

         15  block in from the park, and The Gates was a

         16  fantastic tourism, fantastic people, fantastic

         17  exhibit to look at in the trees, and you saw orange

         18  and you saw thousands of people.  And yes, the

         19  construction embargo, I think, did help in terms of

         20  dealing with the traffic.  But that was slightly

         21  different in the sense that there were so many  --

         22  it was so exciting to see all those people going

         23  into the park.  And there were thousands of them.

         24  It was a big tourism, which I don't know you would

         25  add as many more tourists to those who are already
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          2  in the park.  So it's almost like it's a bit of  --

          3  I think it's a little bit apples and oranges,

          4  because the fact of the matter is, it was February,

          5  which means that New Yorkers are here, so they have

          6  their cars.  And of course, there was a huge number

          7  of tourists.

          8                 But I have to say, I never received

          9  car transportation calls.  Certainly, people knew

         10  that it was going to end.  But that would be the

         11  same thing with a three- month period, trial period.

         12    People would know that at the end of the Summer,

         13  if it felt like there were too many cars, that we

         14  would have that kind of assessment.  So I was just

         15   --  I would think that as a short term, something

         16  similar to The Gates setup and ending, that the

         17  traffic could be told that this is an experiment,

         18  during this time period, we suggest you find

         19  alternate routes.  And it might actually be easier

         20  to deal with than to try to explain to people, West

         21  Drive and East Drive.  People don't know the

         22  difference between north and south in our City.  So

         23  I just don't know  --  I just think it would be more

         24  complicated in terms of a public relations

         25  perspective.
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          2                 I just was wondering if you could

          3  comment on that. Because the goal of course, is to

          4  get cars off of the drives altogether, if in fact,

          5  down the line, even now or in the future, we have no

          6  cars in the park.  And I just was wondering how you

          7  think the publicity could be weighed.  In other

          8  words, if you're to say the compromise is such and

          9  such, as you announced yesterday, but isn't that

         10  more complicated to people than just telling them,

         11  as, when The Gates there were no cars, during the

         12  Summer we're going to have no cars.  We're going to

         13  assess it.  And please, during the Summer, find

         14  alternative routes.  And as you suggested, there are

         15  fewer people here during the Summer.

         16                 So how would that work, just in terms

         17  of publicity and traffic?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Well,

         19  we don't believe that the announcement we made

         20  yesterday is very difficult for motorists to

         21  understand.  The entrances  --  during the hours

         22  that the off- peak direction is closed, during the

         23  peak times, the entrances on that particular part of

         24  the park will be closed. Parks will, when   --  at

         25  the locations where vehicles are forced to exit, for
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          2  example, if we take Central Park, the vehicles will

          3  be forced to exit at the Seventh Avenue exit.  Parks

          4  will set up the appropriate channelizations to force

          5  the vehicles all to exit onto the Seventh Avenue

          6   --  at Seventh Avenue.  Similarly, on the East

          7  Drive, all the vehicles that go north, the last

          8  place that they can exit is Adam Clayton Powell

          9  Boulevard.  And they will be forced to exit at that

         10  location.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  I'm

         12  just saying that in reality, what goes on, Parks

         13  does the best they can now, get the barricades up.

         14  But let me tell you, a cab will sneak in in two

         15  seconds, if that barricade isn't up yet.  And if

         16  they see other cars doing down, whoosh, on they go.

         17  I'm just telling you, that's reality.  And it's not

         18  anybody's fault, because it's a lot of Parks

         19  personnel time to get the barricades up and down.

         20  But that's what goes on in reality.  Because I see

         21  it every single day.

         22                 So I do think it's   --  you know,

         23  yes, it seems easy to you because you are part of,

         24  you know, putting together the process.  But for

         25  those in the neighborhood who aren't all the time
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          2  paying attention to the news.  Obviously, for the

          3  taxis and their drivers, they probably have much

          4  more of a shared communication network than do

          5  people who are infrequently using the park.

          6                 I do think it is a more challenging

          7  discussion than just saying, the park is closed for

          8  the Summer.  We're going to assess it, and let's see

          9  where that goes.  And I do think that the public

         10  would accept that.  Because, at the same time, we're

         11  saying, as a possibility to close the park, all of

         12  us are saying health care concerns, or obesity is a

         13  concern, exercise is a concern.  We need more, you

         14  know, gyms, et cetera.  So in a sense, the messages

         15  go together, in a better way.  And I just  --

         16  doesn't that make some sense to you?  Is that a

         17  Parks question?  Yes, Mr. Kavanagh.

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         19  Council Member, I just wanted to point out, that in

         20  January of 2005, when we introduced more car- free

         21  hours, more restrictions on cars in Central Park, we

         22  had a very well- coordinated plan between the

         23  Department of Transportation and the Police

         24  Department, and the Parks Department, to notify

         25  motorists of these changes.  And yes, there is a
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          2  learning curve, and it takes a little while before

          3  people get used to the changes, but it worked.  And

          4  those changes that we announced in 2005 are well

          5  established within the park now.             And

          6  yes, things like, you know, the environmental

          7  impacts of automobiles is an important

          8  consideration, but if you're moving them from one

          9  place to another, I don't think you're really

         10  dissipating or addressing the impact of pollution on

         11  the public.

         12                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: If I could

         13  just say one other thing.  Clearly, before June 5th,

         14  we will have numerous VMS signs up, both on the east

         15  side and the west side, and near Prospect Park as

         16  well.  Both at Grand Army Plaza and by Third Street,

         17  where cars would enter.  In addition, you know, we

         18  have on all of our highways, the oversized

         19  information signs.  So clearly, we have the

         20  opportunity to put messages up there as well.  And

         21  as well, our website.

         22                 I might want to point out, Council

         23  Member, that you know, we have done a number of

         24  major transportation projects this Spring.  Closing

         25  the FDR for a period of time, an exit, 61st Street.
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          2  You know, what we found is, as the Deputy

          3  Commissioner pointed out, you know, initially,

          4  people are a little confused.  By the second day,

          5  people get it.  They understand the pattern.  And I

          6  might point out that you know, one of the biggest

          7  uses of our streets are the taxi industry.  And  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I take them

          9  all the time.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: And you know,

         11  cab drivers are a pretty smart group.  And they

         12  figure it out.  After the first or second day, they

         13  understand, and figure out other routes.

         14                 So, you know, overall, between all

         15  these tools that we have, we think that that will be

         16  enough information bank for people to draw upon.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know other

         18  people have questions.  You know that I feel

         19  strongly that it would make sense and a whole host

         20  of reasons to close the park during the Summer. I do

         21  think that people would find other routes.  I mean,

         22  exactly what you're saying.  Eastside Drive is

         23  closed, Central Park and Prospect Park are closed.

         24  We're doing an experiment.  And try to find

         25  alternative routes.  Thank you Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

          3  Member Brewer. Council Member Garodnick.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you

          5  Mr. Chairman.

          6                 Nice to see you all again.  I just

          7  wanted to start off by saying, first of all, that

          8  I'm inclined to support this. For the reasons that

          9  the Chairman said, and Council Member Brewer said,

         10  that parks are supposed to be a refuge, as a place

         11  free of congestion, a place free of noise.  And we

         12  have problems with that, obviously, specifically on

         13  the east side of Manhattan, all around New York

         14  City.

         15                 I am, of course, concerned about the

         16  impacts of closing these roads on traffic.  I

         17  actually am concerned about that, and I wanted to

         18  ask you some specific questions about that.

         19  Particularly about Central Park, specifically about

         20  the East Drive, and specifically about the evening

         21  hours, which under the revised plan, or what the

         22  Mayor put out yesterday with you, would still be

         23  open.

         24                 I did want to note that it seems like

         25  we also have a bigger issue here about traffic and
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          2  congestion in Manhattan.  And I know that this is

          3  not the forum for this, or the day for this. But we

          4  do need to think about ways to reduce traffic in

          5  Manhattan altogether.  And in my view, and this

          6  should be the subject for further discussion,

          7  examining pricing plans, like what London has done

          8  to explore ways to reduce traffic altogether in

          9  Manhattan during the prime business hours.  So I

         10  just wanted to make mention of that, because traffic

         11  is obviously a concern for all of us in Manhattan.

         12                 First of all, you mentioned that you

         13  had conducted studies of Central Park in the past.

         14  And you mentioned specifically The Gates.  Were

         15  there other studies that were conducted on the

         16  traffic impact of closing these loop drives. Other

         17  than The Gates.

         18                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Before Mike

         19  speaks, there's always the good thing about having

         20  someone who has worked with the Department of

         21  Transportation for 30 years.  They have

         22  institutional memories.  So I'll let Mike answer

         23  that.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Thank

         25  you Commissioner.  The original study that  --
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          2  there was two alternate use studies done in the

          3  parks.  In Prospect Park, it was done in 1997.  In

          4  Central Park, it was started  -- these were started

          5  in 1997, and in Prospect Park, it was started in

          6  1991.  And they were called alternate use studies.

          7  And what the was explored were several scenarios.

          8  And in those scenarios, we looked at from closing

          9  the park totally to cars, all parks totally to cars,

         10  to various other scenarios that have been  --

         11  facets of which have been implemented over the

         12  years.  So we looked at the impact of closing

         13  selected entrances and exits.  We looked at closing

         14  the off- peak direction during peak times.  We

         15  looked at reducing the number of lanes available to

         16  the cars.  What we found was, that the scenario that

         17  presented the worst conditions was closing the park

         18  during peak hours in the peak direction full time.

         19  Exactly what you're proposing in this bill.

         20                 However, we what we did conclude, as

         21  a result of those studies, is that many entrances

         22  and exits could be closed. We closed  --  in Central

         23  Park, we closed four, three entrances and one exit,

         24  in 1994.  And we closed five entrances and two exits

         25  in 2004, in Central Park.  And in Prospect Park, we
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          2  closed four entrances and/or exits in 1999, as a

          3  result of those studies.

          4                 Yesterday, the Mayor announced

          5  another refinement, which was closing the off- peak

          6  direction during peak times.  Which again, those

          7  alternate use studies suggested, was doable,

          8  creating unmitigatable (sic) traffic problems.

          9                 Lastly, what the Administration did

         10  in 2004, was restrict certain usage of the West

         11  Drive in Central Park in particular, to HOV

         12  vehicles.  And the last thing that the study looked

         13  at  --  those alternate use studies looked at was

         14  what were the exact hours when traffic was required

         15  to use the park drives. And over the years, those

         16  hours have been reduced sharply.  In Prospect Park,

         17  they are three hours  --  two hours in the morning,

         18  and two hours in the afternoon.  And in Central

         19  Park, it is three hours in the morning, and four

         20  hours in the afternoon.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: The

         22  alternate use studies, though, they were conducted

         23  not based on closing the roads, and seeing the

         24  impact, right?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: No.
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          2   --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: They were

          4  done using  -- I don't know how you do an alternate

          5  use study.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Using

          7  diversion models, and using trip assignments for

          8  what would   --  to gauge where the traffic would

          9  go, that is currently using the park.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: During what

         11  period of time?  Was it done during a particular

         12  time of the year?  Did it explore Summer versus

         13  Winter?  And all  --

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: It

         15  looked at peak volumes, and looked at the

         16  relationship of those peak volumes to different

         17  times of the year.  We don't have dramatic dropoffs

         18  in volume.  We have dramatic increases in volume in

         19  the holiday season, when volumes go up 10 to 15

         20  percent in New York City.  But we don't have

         21  dramatic dropoffs between the Summer months and the

         22  Winter months.  And during the peak times, except

         23  for the holiday season.  And so, at best, we're

         24  looking at four to six, to seven percent difference

         25  in traffic between a peak month and a non- peak
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          2  month.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So it's  --

          4    so you're saying it's roughly a seven percent

          5  difference in the summertime from  --

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: No,

          7  no.  That's not what I said.  What  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Let me ask

          9  you  --  make it clear.  Because I want to

         10  understand how different it is in the summertime  --

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: In the

         12  wintertime, we probably have a four or five percent

         13  reduction from our peak.  In the summertime, it's

         14  closer to a three to four percent reduction. Because

         15  the traffic that is not generated by the school

         16  trips are picked up by the other recreational trips

         17  that occur.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: The

         19  Commissioner, in here testimony  --  and maybe I'll

         20  direct this at the Commissioner  -- You mentioned

         21  that these studies  --  I guess you were referring

         22  to the alternate use studies, back from 1997,

         23  concluded that there would be a significant increase

         24  in traffic congestion on the surrounding streets.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes.

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Can you

          3  help me understand what significant means?  From

          4  your perspective.

          5                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, I think

          6  we mean a couple of things.  Number one is, you'll

          7  see an increase in the volume of traffic on certain

          8  major avenues.  But more importantly, the way that

          9  we measure streets in the City of New York, they're

         10  measured and they're rated anywhere from an A to an

         11  F.  And one of the things that you will see is that

         12  it will take you longer to get through a light

         13  cycle.  And so, you could wait two or three times

         14  before you're able to get through the intersection.

         15  And that's the type of data that we look at, and we

         16  have looked at in the past, and we will be looking

         17  at now, with the closures that we've recommended.

         18                 So it's an increase in volume on the

         19  streets themselves, on certain avenue.  As well as,

         20  you will have cars that will not be able to get

         21  through certain intersections, either the first go

         22  around, the second.  Maybe it will take the third.

         23  And what that will lead to, Councilman, is it will

         24  lead to horn honking, blocking the box, and just

         25  overall frustration.
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          2                 I don't Mike, if you want to  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Well, it

          4  sounds  --  I mean, I understand.  I'm still a

          5  little confused as to  --  in terms of an increase

          6  in the number of cars per minute on Fifth Avenue, or

          7  Park Avenue, or Central Park South.  What that  --

          8  I mean, significant is significant.  I don't know

          9  what the numbers are to support that.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: It's

         11  the same sort of standard we use for every

         12  development project, for example.  Where a

         13  consultant   --  where a traffic analysis is done

         14  for a development, and the level of  --  the changes

         15  in level of service look  --  the document needs to

         16  disclose whether or not those changes in level of

         17  service could be mitigated with standard measures.

         18                 What we've found in the alternate use

         19  studies was 80 percent of the intersections we

         20  evaluated, the traffic conditions would worsen, and

         21  could not be mitigated with standard traffic

         22  engineering measures.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.  So

         24  let me ask specifically  --  on Central Park South.

         25  What did you conclude would be the effect of closing
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          2  the park loop drive on Central Park South?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: The

          4  study looked at the  --  the study looked at the

          5  streets surrounding the park from 116th Street to

          6  50th Street, from West End Avenue to Park Avenue.

          7  That was our study area.  And in that study area, we

          8  looked at some 35 or more intersections.  And at 80

          9  percent of those intersections, including three on

         10  Central Park South, we found that the level of

         11  service would worsen from current levels, about a D,

         12  to an E or an F, which would mean that, as the

         13  Commissioner mentioned, that vehicles approaching

         14  the intersection would not be able to clear that

         15  intersection in the normal cycle.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I

         17  understand.  I'm sorry. Finish the  --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: That

         19  would create additional congestion which would just

         20  build throughout the three or four hours of the

         21  peak.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I guess

         23  what I'm struggling with is to get it from a D to an

         24  E or an F, or to increase  --  have it be one of the

         25  80 percent that you saw it increase back in 1997, we
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          2  may be talking about small increments here, and this

          3  is something which  --  it's sort of  --  I

          4  recognize that traffic studies are imperfect, which

          5  is one of the reasons that it is appealing, the idea

          6  of trying something out, and actually studying the

          7  substance of it, and seeing the actual results.  But

          8  what I don't understand when we talk about, okay,

          9  you might miss a light, or you might see a little

         10  backup, honking, et cetera, are we talking about an

         11  additional car per minute, additional five cars per

         12  minute?  What  --  I mean, this is what I'd like to

         13  know the answer to.  And I don't know the answer to.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Let's

         15  just talk about one of the avenue.  There's 1,700

         16  vehicles, almost 1,800 vehicles during the peak hour

         17  on the West Drive in the morning.  Twenty eight

         18  percent of those vehicles we estimate, would divert

         19  to Central Park West.  Another 25 percent would

         20  divert to Columbus. Another 15 to 20 percent would

         21  divert to Broadway.  And so a 20 percent diversion

         22  of some 1,800 vehicles is 360 vehicles, and

         23  additional 360 vehicles an hour.   That's  --  if

         24  everything is equally distributed, there are about

         25  40 cycles per hour on an avenue.  And so, that would

                                                            52

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  be seven to eight additional vehicles per cycle, if

          3  I did the math in my head correctly.  At every

          4  cycle. During every part of the hour.  And if

          5  arrivals were not equally distributed through the

          6  hours, it maybe twice as many  vehicles that would

          7  be approaching that intersection.

          8                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Can I just

          9  point out one other thing?  That's assuming that the

         10  street condition is perfect. That assumes that there

         11  wouldn't be a Fresh Direct truck double parked.  The

         12  Entemann's truck wouldn't be double parked, because

         13  it's making a delivery.  There wouldn't be a large

         14  tractor trailer unloading in front of Gristidi's or

         15  one of the other major supermarkets.  So what Mike

         16  is talking about is an all- perfect condition.  And

         17  I would dare say, in this City, particularly in the

         18  morning and the evening, we don't have many streets

         19  that have that perfect condition.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: But it also

         21  assumes that not a single car would divert and say,

         22  I'm going to take public transportation.  Or that

         23  I'm going to travel at another time of the day.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: No.

         25  It actually did.              COUNCIL MEMBER
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          2  GARODNICK: Or that I'm going to stay home.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: No.

          4  It actually did. The shrinkage factor we used in our

          5  studies was 15 percent, which was very high,

          6  considering that when the Williamsburg Bridge was

          7  closed for six weeks when it had a structural

          8  problem, that only three percent of the vehicles

          9  didn't come in across the East River.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: So it shows

         11  the fact we did use a shrinkage factor of 15

         12  percent.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: But there

         14  are other traffic experts who say that an

         15  appropriate shrinkage factor should be between 20

         16  and 60 percent.  Now, this  --

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: And

         18  Councilman, they pick those numbers out of the air.

         19  Where I pick out the numbers from, is from real

         20  world conditions that have happened in New York

         21  City.  Again, let me mention very clearly, the

         22  Williamsburg Bridge was closed for a structural

         23  emergency back in the '80s.  Three percent of the

         24  vehicles that cross the East River changed.  Decided

         25  that they didn't need to do it.  Only three percent.
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          2    That was an entire bridge.  One of four that cross

          3  the East River.  A major transportation nightmare.

          4  And yet, only three percent of motorists that use

          5  that bridge over a 24- hour period, decided that

          6  they could use other modes.  That  --  so when we

          7  use the shrinkage factor, when we create the

          8  shrinkage factor that we used, we did it using the

          9  conditions which exist in New York City.  Not

         10  conditions that people would like us to use, or what

         11  people believe should be a reasonable approach.  Or

         12  even conditions that people have found in other

         13  localities, in other countries, in other parts of

         14  the world. We use shrinkage factors that we have a

         15  real- world experience in.

         16                 I mentioned the Williamsburg Bridge,

         17  and I also earlier mentioned when the West Side

         18  Highway fell down.  Again, the shrinkage that

         19  created immediately after the highway falling down

         20  was somewhere around the order of eight percent.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Deputy Commissioner,

         22  we get your point.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Okay.

         24  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But I will also say
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          2  though, again, the bill does not contemplate nor

          3  request a permanent change.  It's a change during

          4  which  --  it's for this one Summer, for a period of

          5  three months, so that you can truly get real world,

          6  real life numbers, and not extrapolate from other

          7  conditions, which, in the minds of some other

          8  transportation experts, may be totally different,

          9  and therefore, difficult to extrapolate.

         10                 Council Member Garodnick, do you have

         11  additional questions?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Yes, I will

         13  just  --  I wanted to add to that point, which is, I

         14  recognize your desire to hang on to the real world

         15  numbers, and that's important to me too. Which is

         16  why, if there actually are numbers for those

         17  avenues, Central Park South, Fifty, Park, Lexington,

         18  and Second, I would like to know them.  I don't know

         19  if they were actually explored by avenue.  I know

         20  you described the general range of territory.

         21                 But I agree with the Chairman that

         22  real world numbers are obtained also by an

         23  experiment here.  And it seems like this would be a

         24  good opportunity to actually explore that

         25  possibility.
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          2                 So I will leave it there.  I don't

          3  want to take everybody's time, but I do want to

          4  request the specific numbers, if they exist, for

          5  those avenues that I mentioned.  Because under your

          6   '97 study, it sounds like you did hit certain

          7  intersections.  I don't know if you did it the way

          8  that I was describing it, in terms of number of cars

          9  per minute.  But all of that information is

         10  something that I would certainly like to look at.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. Questions

         13  from Council Member Addabbo.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you

         15  very much Mr. Chair.  And I want to commend this

         16  Committee and my colleagues for their work on Intro.

         17  276.  And the work of the Administration, to an

         18  extent, about you know, on the common ground, we're

         19  all looking to make our park a safer place for our

         20  people.  And again, I commend both sides on this.

         21                 And to the Commissioners who are here

         22  today, thank you very much for being here, for your

         23  time.  I'd like to also be slightly ahead of the

         24  curve.  So while we're talking about park safety, if

         25  I can talk a moment from the about accidents.
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          2  Commissioner Weinshall, you had mentioned that you

          3  had done studies in the past with regards to

          4  vehicles in the park, and so forth. Any of your

          5  studies look at the amount of accidents that

          6  occurred in these parks

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: No.

          8  According to Mike, we didn't look at any accident

          9  data.  We look at  --  we do annual counts of

         10  accident data.  I don't think we did any in

         11  conjunction with these studies, no.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Wouldn't you

         13  think that's an interesting our important aspect of

         14  this whole study?  As far as vehicles in parks, and

         15  those who use our parks at the same time?

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I don't quite

         17  understand your question.  You're concerned about

         18  accidents happening in the park?

         19                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Maybe you

         20  would collect that data.  I don't  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: To make sure

         22  vehicles, and pedestrians, and others who use the

         23  park at the same time.

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Let me just

         25  say one thing. Mike tells me that the accident rates
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          2  in the park are much lower than the accident data

          3  that we collect outside the parks.  I don't think

          4  it's vehicular crashes or vehicles coming into

          5  conflict with bicyclists or pedestrians.  And maybe

          6  the Deputy Commissioner for Parks could respond to

          7  that.  I think the accidents that tend to happen in

          8  the park are maybe bicyclists that have accidents or

          9  runners  I don't know.  Maybe you would know better.

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         11  Council Member Addabbo, we do keep track of

         12  accidents.  I don't have the numbers with me here

         13  today.  The majority of the accidents have involved

         14  vehicles tend to involve fixed objects.  They strike

         15  a lamp post, they strike a bridge.  Fences, things

         16  of that nature.  There are accidents, as

         17  Commissioner Weinshall described, between

         18  pedestrians and bicyclists, or pedestrians and

         19  rollerbladers.  They happen when the park is closed

         20  to vehicle traffic as well as during times when cars

         21  are in the park.  We can certainly provide you with

         22  those numbers.  I don't think there is an extensive

         23  amount of vehicle accidents in the park simply

         24  because cars are not permitted in the park most of

         25  the time.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Right.  If we

          3  could get that information, I'd greatly appreciate

          4  it.

          5                 And Commissioner Kavanagh, is it just

          6  Parks Department who monitors those accidents?  Or

          7  do you work with other agencies as far as those

          8  accidents, whether it be Fire Department, EMS, NYPD.

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         10  Well, the Police Department certainly is involved in

         11  any vehicle accidents that take place in the park.

         12  As well as the Parks Department.  And you know,

         13  different agencies that participate in accident

         14  response, as you described, EMS, I'm sure they keep

         15  records of those incidents as well.  We are probably

         16  the one agency that has the best handle on all of

         17  those types of incidents that take place within the

         18  park.

         19                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Let me just

         20  say one thing. That all the accidents that happen,

         21  whether they be in the park, or they be outside the

         22  park, if the police are called, there's an incident

         23  report, and the precincts have that data.  And

         24  that's how we collect our statistics that we

         25  calculate every year, in term so vehicular
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          2  fatalities and pedestrian fatalities.  So we get all

          3  that from the precincts as well.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: That was my

          5  concern, and if we can get that information, I'd

          6  greatly appreciate it.

          7                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, we have

          8  an annual report, which we'll be happy to send over

          9  a copy to you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you.

         11  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         13  Member Addabbo.

         14                 And questions from Council Member

         15  Felder.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 The first thing I want to say is that

         19  my questions are limited to Prospect Park.

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Thank God.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I don't know

         22   --  I'm not familiar with Central Park, other than

         23  the beautiful zoo, and the Commissioner's office.

         24  Which I come to once in a while.  So I don't want to

         25  discuss that at all.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I was feeling

          3  that Brooklyn was a little left out of the

          4  conversation Council Member.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Well, after

          6  I'm finished with you, you won't feel that way

          7  anymore.

          8                 At the same time, I would like to say

          9  that I you know, I commend the Mayor's compromise,

         10  as well as the work that the Transportation and

         11  Parks Department do on a regular basis.  And I also

         12  want to praise the advocates who are here today from

         13  Transportation Alternatives.  And I support

         14  Transportation Alternatives.  I myself try coming to

         15  work by train as often as I can, and in fact today I

         16  came by train.  And the car stays home. I don't walk

         17  enough, as you shall see, when I stand up.  But it

         18  doesn't mean that I believe that advocates are

         19  always right.  And I don't believe the

         20  Transportation Department or the Parks Department or

         21  Simcha Felder is always right.

         22                 So I have a series of questions.  You

         23  know, first of all, I want to know how many  --

         24  what's the ratio between  --  do you have any idea

         25   --  between cars and people in Prospect Park?
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          2  About.  An approximate ratio.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: The

          4  Parks Department estimates that there are 15,000

          5  users a day.  Is that right?  In Prospect Park?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  On an annual basis, we estimate between seven and

          8  eight million people use Prospect Park.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Seven, eight

         10  million people. And how many cars?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Well

         12  the park is only open to cars two hours in the

         13  morning and two hours in the afternoon.  The peak

         14  hour on the East Drive is about 1,360 vehicles

         15  during that peak hour.  And on the West Drive, in

         16  the afternoon, the peak hour is about 1,100

         17  vehicles.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So also, this

         19  is backup information for me, in terms of people

         20  using the parks, do you have any idea how many

         21  people who use the park come from the neighborhood,

         22  come from other areas in Brooklyn?  Or in general,

         23  outside, even the City?

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         25  The Prospect Park Alliance had done some user
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          2  surveys that does determine where the visitors come

          3  from.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: But you're not

          5  sure about that?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  No, I know they've done the study.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: But you don't

          9  know  --

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         11  don't have the information from that study here

         12  today, but we can certainly provide it for you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: In fact, the

         14  Alliance has come to our office for discretionary

         15  money, which half committed to giving them.  So

         16  without knowing and exact answer, I would say that

         17  you know, I grew up in Brooklyn, you know, I've

         18  always lived in Brooklyn.  I was at Prospect Park in

         19  day camp during the Summer. I enjoyed it very much.

         20  I take my kids there now.  I drive through there as

         21  well.  And I think that without incriminating

         22  anybody else in my neighborhood, I'm pretty symbolic

         23  of people in Brooklyn in general, that there are a

         24  lot of people in Brooklyn that use the parks for a

         25  variety of purposes.
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          2                 Who owns Prospect Park?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  The people of the City of New York.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay.  Very

          6  clear.  So the people of the City of New York, not

          7  the people who live nearby. Not Commissioner

          8  Weinshall who lives in the neighborhood there,

          9  despite maybe her wanting a piece of it.  Right.

         10  But it's too bad. Because if they wanted, they could

         11  put Prospect Park in Midwood or Bensenhurst, and

         12  I'll take the good and the bad.  The fact is, the

         13  park belongs to everyone in the City.  But

         14  certainly, to everyone in Brooklyn.  So I'm having a

         15  hard time with the Transportation Alternatives.  You

         16  know, on this issue.  Particularly.  And again, I

         17  want to make it clear that advocacy for an issue is

         18  a good thing. But that doesn't mean that you're

         19  always right.

         20                 So on this thing, I don't see any

         21  alternatives.  I see tunnel vision.  There's only

         22  one thing that's going to be acceptable.  Either the

         23  park be closed entirely or not.  That's all I see.

         24  That's all I hear.  That's all I read.

         25                 I did a calculation  --   I'm a CPA,
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          2  although I haven't practiced in a long time  --

          3  according to my calculation, the park is open 12.5

          4  percent for cars, because in Prospect Park, on an

          5  evening, you're going to have it open both ways.

          6  But in the morning, you're closing it one way.  So

          7  that's 12 and a half percent.  Now I don't know.

          8  You know, I don't know how many people, how many

          9  cars use the park.  I think that's a pretty good

         10  compromise.  I think it's a pretty good compromise

         11  that the advocates have accomplished a lot.  And you

         12  have a lot to be thankful for.  But for the park to

         13  be closed, I think is not fair. That's not called a

         14  compromise or anything.  I don't think.

         15                 You know, I've wanted to know, would

         16  you be in favor, Commissioner, of closing Broadway

         17  three months a year?  Just you know  --  we're just

         18  going to try it.  Now you have no conclusive

         19  evidence that it's not a good thing.  And you want

         20  to know something as well?  I read something here,

         21  by Transportation Alternatives, that says that DOT

         22  did not factor in the shrinkage of traffic near

         23  Prospect Park that would occur when closing access.

         24  Unlike the agency's 1991 study, which did factor.

         25  Which means people may go somewhere else entirely.
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          2  So I think  --  what would you say?  I'd like to

          3  close Broadway for three months.  It's just a study

          4  Commissioner.  That's all it is.  You know, and we

          5  should do it in the Summer months, when people and

          6  kids are out, that they should be able to enjoy

          7  Broadway, look at the lights at night. That's

          8  another thing that I noticed.  People keep on

          9  talking about the kids in the park.  We're talking

         10  about five to seven at night, and seven to ten in

         11  the morning.  Now I'm not saying to you that there

         12  are no kids in the park during that time.  Seven to

         13  ten in the morning.  Seven a.m.  Five to seven at

         14  night.  Maybe some children.  But I'm  --  I'd like

         15  to try the Broadway closure.

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I'm sorry

         17  Councilman.  We can't do that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Why not?

         19  We're just going to try it.  All we want to do is do

         20  a survey.  Why not?  Do you   -- excuse me.  Excuse

         21  me.  Do you have statistics to show what the

         22  accidents may be if you closed it and nobody would

         23  get hurt at all? Maybe they should close 18th Avenue

         24  in my district as well.  Just during the Summer, so

         25  that people should have a chance to walk around.  I
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          2  don't get it.  I really don't.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Council Member  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I have another

          5  minute.  How would you be  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Please don't badger

          7  the Commissioner.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Well, I won't.

          9    Would you be in favor, Commissioner,   --  I have

         10  another suggestion.  You know, since we're talking

         11   --

         12                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I'm enjoying

         13  this interchange.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: No, listen.

         15  Since we're talking about the Stone Ages, would you

         16  be in favor of Freddie Flintstone cars going through

         17  Prospect Park?  No noise.  Only people doing this

         18  thing on their feet during this time.  Is that okay?

         19  Would you be in favor of that?

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: If you say

         21  so.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I have another

         23  thing.  How about having helicopters come from

         24  Bensenhurst to take commuters to Manhattan every

         25  day?  There's no reason to have cars going.  You
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          2  know, they make a lot of noise, they even honk once

          3  in a while. And it's a problem.  You know, people

          4  have to get work and support their families.  There

          5  are a lot of different alternatives.  What about

          6  bringing cars to the Prospect Park lake, parking it,

          7  and then having boats transport people through the

          8  lake, across where you'll have trolley cars taking

          9  people to Manhattan.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Council Member

         11  Felder, please wrap up.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Yes, sure.  I

         13  had another bunch of transportation alternatives,

         14  but what I would like to  -- I don't know if you got

         15  my point.  I'm not sure.  But if you didn't, I just

         16  want to make it clear.  The park belongs to all the

         17  people.  And as it is, it's closed most of the time.

         18    If there is any proof that cars are not going to

         19  be around the neighborhood there, they're going to

         20  be somewhere.  And there's no way for people to get

         21  to work.  There's no alternative.  No one is coming

         22  up with money to build a master highway, where

         23  they're going to get there some other way.  Which

         24  you would be in favor of.

         25                 So I would say that in general, life
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          2  is a balance. It's not perfect.  And that's what

          3  this is.  It's not perfect. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

          5  Member Felder. I would strongly encourage you to

          6  petition our Speaker, Christine Quinn, for

          7  membership into this Committee.  You will certainly

          8  help us think even further outside the box.  Thank

          9  you Council Member -

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I'm happy to

         11  come whenever you invite me.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You are always

         13  invited Simcha.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Just don't badger

         16  the Commissioner. I want to thank Commissioner

         17  Weinshall, and Deputy Commissioners Kavanagh and

         18  Deputy Commissioner Primeggia.

         19                 Maybe one final question for Deputy

         20  Commissioner Primeggia.  We always appreciate the

         21  passion with which you have - with which you speak

         22  about traffic and transportation issues in this

         23  City.  I personally find it difficult to believe

         24  that you've been doing this for 30 years.  But

         25  nonetheless, we respect your expertise.  I just want
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          2  to ask your honest opinion.  Did you like the

          3  Mayor's announcement yesterday?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PRIMEGGIA: Yes.

          5  I thought it was great.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good one.  Thank

          7  you.

          8                 We will hear from Felicia Feinerman,

          9  a representative of Manhattan Borough President

         10  Scott Stringer. After which, we'll hear from Jeffrey

         11  Zupan, from Regional Plan Association, together with

         12  Bruce Shaller, from Shaller Consulting.

         13                 Please proceed Ms. Feinerman.

         14                 MS. FEINERMAN: Thank you. Good

         15  morning Chairman Liu, and Members of the Committee.

         16  I'm Felicia Feinerman, and I'll be giving testimony

         17  of Manhattan Borough President Scott Stringer, who

         18  had to run to another meeting.

         19                 I want to thank Chairman Liu for the

         20  opportunity to testify in support of Intro. 276,

         21  which will create a trial period this Summer for a

         22  car- free Central Park.  Closure of the loop drive

         23  in Central Park would drastically improve the park

         24  experience for New York's residents and visitors.

         25                 Summer in Central Park is a chance
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          2  for hundreds of thousands of people to enjoy the

          3  outdoors, whether it's by strolling, sitting,

          4  walking, biking, skating, or visiting the park's

          5  several attractions.  Ideally, visitors would do

          6  these things without safety hazards and noise that

          7  come with traffic. With fewer residents in the City,

          8  and fewer cars in the streets during the Summer, it

          9  is a timely opportunity to close the loop drives.  A

         10  three- month trial period would allow for effective

         11  measurement of the traffic impacts.  For these

         12  reasons, I strongly support passage of Intro. 276,

         13  sponsored by Council Member Gale Brewer.

         14                 In addition to improving the park

         15  experience for thousands of visitors, this trial run

         16  will be a step toward restoring the park's

         17  designer's original intent.  Olmsted and Vaux

         18  designed Central Park as a refuge from the noise and

         19  congestion of the City.  For 30 years after it

         20  opened, the park was indeed car free.  The

         21  transverse drives were intentionally sunk below

         22  grade to mitigate the burden of cars on park goers.

         23  Over time, however, the use of the loop drives as a

         24  through route for motor vehicles became common

         25  practice, detracting from the overall park
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          2  atmosphere and this should be reversed.

          3                 According to studies of traffic flow,

          4  closing the loop drive would have little to no

          5  effect on traffic in the surrounding avenues and

          6  streets.  If we move forward with this proposal, DOT

          7  will have the opportunity to monitor surrounding

          8  areas and traffic conditions in a real world

          9  application.  Should the trial period yield

         10  unanticipated and undesirable traffic impact,

         11  closure of the loop drive can then be reconsidered.

         12  But it is necessary to move ahead with a trial

         13  period to determine the full effect.

         14                 The Mayor's recent proposal to extend

         15  the car- free hours in Central Park starting next

         16  month is a step forward. However, only a full loop

         17  drive closure this Summer will give us valuable and

         18  necessary information about the true impact of

         19  vehicles in Central Park.

         20                 Currently, when walkers, joggers,

         21  runners, and other users of the park attempt to

         22  squeeze into two narrow lanes, they fear for their

         23  safety, and breathe auto exhaust as they attempt to

         24  exercise and enjoy our park.  They will thank you

         25  for moving forward with this golden opportunity.

                                                            73

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 Thank you for the opportunity.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Ms.

          4  Feinerman.  And give our best regards to the Borough

          5  President.  We'll now hear from Jeffrey Zupan, and

          6  Bruce Shaller.

          7                 This panel will be followed by a

          8  panel consisting of Kenneth Coughlin and Chad

          9  Marlowe, and Paul White, from Transportation

         10  Alternatives.  Together with Teresa Toro, from the

         11  Tri- State Transportation Campaign.

         12                 MR. ZUPAN: Good morning.  My name is

         13  Jeffrey Zupan. I am Senior Fellow at Regional Plan

         14  Association.  And I'm here today to speak in full

         15  support of Intro. No. 276.  I have an opportunity,

         16  because I've been listening for the better part of

         17  an hour to the DOT, to make some comments outside of

         18  my formal testimony.  And I want to make three

         19  points.  Frederick Law Olmsted in fact, did design

         20  Central Park for carriage ways.  He did not design

         21  it for motor vehicles.  And in fact, if we wanted to

         22  stick to the legacy of Frederick Low Olmsted, we

         23  certainly might allow carriage ways, but not motor

         24  vehicles.  And carriages might not be a bad idea and

         25  a recreational opportunity for Central Park.  I
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          2  don't know whether my friends at Transportation

          3  Alternative would go for that, but certainly, I

          4  would buy it in replace of motor vehicles.  I wonder

          5  what Frederick Law Olmsted would do if he came back

          6  today and saw cars in Central Park?

          7                 The next issue I just want to mention

          8  is the shrinkage discussion, which came up earlier.

          9  And the Deputy Commissioner indicated that the

         10  shrinkage in Williamsburg Bridge was only three

         11  percent over the entire day.  What was the shrinkage

         12  for the Williamsburg Bridge closing during the peak

         13  period?  Which is what we're talking about here now.

         14    Certainly, it may have very well have been more

         15  than three percent.

         16                 The final point I want to make is

         17  that The Gates study, during The Gates time is

         18  certainly to estimate what the traffic impacts are

         19  with the millions of people that came to The Gates,

         20  certainly is not a consistent or a comparable, I

         21  should say, examination of the issue.  And I would

         22  hope that the Council will take it into affect.

         23                 Let me now go back to my formal

         24  written testimony. Specifically, I want to address

         25  the issues of traffic associated with the complete
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          2  closing of Central Park loop drives.  The key issue

          3  is whether the diversion of vehicles from a closed

          4  Central Park loop drive would lead to significant

          5  traffic congestion on other streets and highways, as

          6  is suggested by the City.

          7                 Last year, I tested what the possible

          8  impacts of closing the loop drives might be, by

          9  redistributing  --  this is when I gave testimony

         10  last year  --  by redistributing the traffic in the

         11  morning peak on all the parallel north- south

         12  thoroughfares in proportion to the drivers' likely

         13  alternative routings.  The results, my results

         14  indicate that at most, less than four vehicles per

         15  minute would be added on any of the southbound

         16  thoroughfare. And that four was actually on the West

         17  Side Highway.  It was no more than two on any of the

         18  other major avenues on the west or east side.  This

         19  would amount to less than one vehicle every 17

         20  seconds, at the most.  These small additions would

         21  be more than counter balanced by the reductions at

         22  intersections on avenues that would no longer be a

         23  conduit for vehicles entering and leaving the park.It

         24  seems that what the City keeps missing when they

         25  talk about diversions to other streets, what about

                                                            76

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  the diversions from the intersections at which

          3  vehicles are entering and leaving the park?

          4  Particularly Central Park South.  And I'm going to

          5  get to that in a moment.  In fact, I'm going to get

          6  to it right now.

          7                 In sharp contrast, consider that, in

          8  the three hour morning peak period, over four

          9  thousand vehicles, or 22 per minute, would no longer

         10  be exiting the park at Central Park South and

         11  Seventh Avenue.  That 2,000 vehicles, or 11 per

         12  minute, would no longer be exiting the park at 72nd

         13  Street at Fifth Avenue.  That 2,500 vehicles, or 14

         14  per minute, would no longer be driving through

         15  Harlem, driving through Harlem to reach the park.

         16  And that 2,500 vehicles, or 14 per minute, would no

         17  longer be using the seven entry points  --  not it's

         18  fewer  --  along Central Park West, to enter the

         19  park.  At each of these locations, traffic would be

         20  eased substantially, not made worse.

         21                 What are the traffic conditions

         22  today?  I recently had the opportunity  --  if you

         23  want to call it that  --  to observe morning peak

         24  traffic conditions on major southbound thoroughfares

         25  across Midtown, at 59th Street as part of some other
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          2  work RPA is doing.  Which I'll be glad to share with

          3  you in the future.  It has to do with congestion

          4  pricing.  Which came up earlier.  The only location

          5  where traffic is congested, by my observations,

          6  congested by meaning that vehicles had to wait for

          7  more than one traffic cycle, which was discussed

          8  earlier as well, was at the exit from Central Park,

          9  at Central Park South and Seventh Avenue.  At that

         10  location, traffic is regularly congealed with

         11  traffic, black cars, and passenger cars from the

         12  park, many forced to wait for more than one traffic

         13  signal, as they merged with Central Park South

         14  traffic turning onto Seventh Avenue, creating

         15  spillback conditions at the intersection.  Remove

         16  the exit for cars, you remove the problem at that

         17  intersection

         18                 In contrast, on the West Side

         19  Highway, on Ninth Avenue, on Broadway, on Fifth

         20  Avenue, on Park Avenue, and on Lexington Avenue,

         21   --  yes, I was at all those locations during the

         22  peak  --  traffic flowed smoothly, with no annoying

         23  waits for multiple traffic light cycles.  The

         24  diversions from Central Park will not change these

         25  conditions.  Because the diversions, when you look
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          2  at a per minute basis, are so small.  But eliminate

          3  Central Park loop drive traffic, and you reduce

          4  traffic delays and congestion, especially at the end

          5  points, entering and leaving the park at Midtown,

          6  and in Harlem.

          7                 Let's return Central Park to the use

          8  for which it was intended, the enjoyment of all New

          9  Yorkers.  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  Mr.

         11  Schaller.

         12                 MR. SCHALLER: Good morning.  I'm

         13  Bruce Schaller. I'm the Principal of Schaller

         14  Consulting.  And I'm pleased to be here this

         15  morning, to join Jeff and many other people in

         16  support of Intro. 276.  And I just wanted to make a

         17  couple points in terms of the traffic impacts,

         18  focused on closing the Central Park drives, although

         19  I'd be happy to talk about Prospect Park, from my

         20  personal experience.  I'm there every morning.

         21                 The key issue here is whether on

         22  congestion on streets outside the park will worsen

         23  as a result of closing the park drives.  And your

         24  view of that, your expectation of what would happen

         25  depends on two things.  The first is whether the
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          2  people who currently drive through the park will

          3  continue to drive, but go on the streets and avenues

          4  around the park.  Or whether they'll switch to other

          5  modes.  The  diversion effect.  That's what I'd like

          6  to address today.

          7                 Jeff has just addressed the second

          8  issue, which is assuming they do divert, whether the

          9  streets outside the park have the capacity to absorb

         10  whatever number of trips would then be on them.

         11                 Our recent study, Necessity or

         12  Choice, Who Drives in Manhattan, analyzed why people

         13  drive in Manhattan, and the factors that affect the

         14  choice of driving versus taking other modes of

         15  transportation.

         16                 As we discuss in detail in the

         17  report, the belief that some   --  of some, that

         18  little or no mode shifting will occur when streets

         19  are closed to traffic is founded on two premises.

         20  One premise is that drivers have no alternatives to

         21  driving.  And the second, failing that, is that even

         22  with alternatives, motorists will continue to drive.

         23

         24                 The first premise is clearly not true

         25  for people traveling to Midtown from the
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          2  neighborhoods to the east, north, and west of the

          3  park.  These are the trips that are most likely to

          4  use the park drives.  Census data for work trips

          5  show that auto commuters represent only five percent

          6  of workers who commute to Midtown from neighborhoods

          7  near the park.  While only five percent, on in

          8  twenty commuters, drive to work, over three in four

          9  use public transportation, or bike, or walk.

         10  Clearly, those driving to through the park have many

         11  alternative modes available to them.  In fact, most

         12  people use one of those alternative modes making the

         13  equivalent trip.

         14                 The second premise is that even

         15  though they have alternatives, motorists will

         16  continue to drive, no matter what. Somehow wedded to

         17  their cars.  This premise overlooks the fact that

         18  New Yorkers very carefully, I would say shrewdly

         19  choose the mode that best meets their needs.  The

         20  data are clear, particularly in New York City, the

         21  people are more likely to drive when the auto is a

         22  significantly quicker mode of transportation than

         23  transits or other modes.  Conversely, they are more

         24  likely to switch to some other mode when the auto

         25  does not offer a clear travel time savings.
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          2                 Thus, if closing the drives were in

          3  fact, to slow traffic outside the park, as some

          4  fear, the decrease in speeds would lead people to

          5  shift to other modes.  In that case, driving would

          6  become a choice that some drivers would no longer

          7  make, and the anticipated levels of congestion would

          8  not materialize.

          9                 One other comment, an important part

         10  of Intro. 276 is the charge to DOT to study the

         11  traffic impacts of closing the drives.  As this has

         12  been alluded to, I also agree it's very important to

         13  study this and to show the true response of

         14  motorists to closures, and the resulting impact on

         15  traffic congestion.

         16                 And I thank you for the opportunity

         17  to present this.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         19    So what do you think about the Department of

         20  Transportation's 15 percent shrinkage assumption?

         21                 MR. SCHALLER: So I think it's

         22  probably a low figure. I think, as has been stated,

         23  we need to study that and see what that is.  I think

         24  to the degree that there's not the capacity on the

         25  roadways to absorb those trips that people will, in
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          2  very significant numbers, shift modes, shift time of

          3  day that they're traveling.  There's lots of options

          4  in terms of when and how you get around.  And people

          5  are naturally averse to congestion.  They want the

          6  quickest way from A to B.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Both of you are

          8  recognized experts in this field.  And certainly,

          9  this particular topic.  At least for you, Mr.

         10  Schaller, you disagree with the Department of

         11  Transportation's 15 percent shrinkage assumption.

         12  You think that it is potentially significantly

         13  higher?

         14                 MR. SCHALLER: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is it even in the

         16  ballpark?  Or is it  --

         17                 MR. SCHALLER: I think it's at the low

         18  end.  I would think you would see shrinkage that

         19  would be significantly higher than that.  I think

         20  it's  --  you know, similar the shrinkage  -- just

         21  to say  --  there are two kinds of shrinkage.  One

         22  is in terms of mode shift.  The other is in terms of

         23  coming earlier or later. Which is, I think, what

         24  happened when the bridges closed.  And both of those

         25  reduced the peak impact of congestion.  So to the
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          2  degree that people continue to drive, they may do so

          3  at different times.           CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes.

          4  I mean, I think the shrinkage is an abhorrent

          5  assumption.  It gets to the very heart of the issue

          6  here.  I don't think that advocates here for car-

          7  free parks are simply advocating let the cars drive

          8  elsewhere.  I think they would just like to see an

          9  overall decrease in the number of cars.  And

         10  certainly, a decrease to zero of the number of cars

         11  in the parks, at least during the summer hours.

         12  Jeff?

         13                 MR. ZUPAN: May I make one last

         14  comment?  Perhaps the last comment.  That your bill

         15  requires the Department of Transportation to do a

         16  study, should the parks be closed, I think that the

         17  bill perhaps could be modified such that the study

         18  be done in a totally balanced way, by allowing

         19  others to have access to the data and to the

         20  analysis at an early stage, rather than being handed

         21  a bound study at the end of the  -- whatever the

         22  period is. I think that this issue is too important

         23  to be left to a Department of Transportation that

         24  has long held a view that vehicles are to be

         25  preferred over other forms of transportation on the
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          2  surface.  And I think the bill should enable a more

          3  balanced approach.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  Your

          5  point is well taken, Mr. Zupan.  Earlier in the

          6  hearing, we had asked the Department of

          7  Transportation specifically whether they consider

          8  the, in this case, the Central Park drives to be an

          9  integral part of the transportation, the road

         10  network.  They said transportation network, but I

         11  think we can safety say it's specifically, they

         12  meant the road network.  In Manhattan.  Are these

         13  park drives an integral part of the road network in

         14  Manhattan?

         15                 MR. ZUPAN: Well, I think the way I

         16  would answer is, they don't have to be.  And that's

         17  what your bill is all about. And it's about

         18  ultimately removing vehicular traffic from Central

         19  Park, which is what  -- which was never intended.

         20  Obviously, it was never intended.  The motor vehicle

         21  was invented 50 or more years, 50 or so years after

         22  Central Park was built.

         23                 So let's take whatever you call it,

         24  the part of the road network, or whatever, let's

         25  remove it from Central Park as a deterrent for the
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          2  enjoyment of all our citizens.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

          4  gentlemen, for your testimony.  I'm sorry.  We have

          5  questions from Council Member Brewer.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          7  much. I'll be very brief.  Two quick questions.  One

          8  is, I think that there was a study done for the

          9  Central Park Conservancy, by Sam Schwartz, stating

         10  that the volumes in the park have gone down in the

         11  last few year.  And I was just wondering if you

         12  could comment on that? Certainly, as a Westsider,

         13  somebody who jumps in a cab, I do find that they

         14  have gone down in the park.  And I think it's partly

         15  because people are confused about when the park is

         16  or isn't open, despite what we heard earlier.

         17                 And the second question I have is

         18  regarding The Gates.  I certainly said earlier, that

         19  I do think it is a bit of apples and oranges to

         20  compare that situation with the one that we're

         21  proposing.  They are different times, et cetera.  So

         22  I was just wondering if you could comment on those

         23  two.  Why you think that there is, if there is less

         24  traffic in the park?  And also, do you think that

         25  The Gates is comparable, as was suggested earlier?
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          2                 MR. ZUPAN: I'll try answering I guess

          3  both, but we can each  --  whatever.  I also

          4  observed the long- term decline of the use of the

          5  park in the peak period by motor vehicles.  And I'm

          6  not sure why that's true, because there's been a

          7  long- term increase in the use of vehicles coming

          8  into the Manhattan central business district.  It

          9  may be, that over time, as we made Central Park more

         10  difficult for the drives to be used, by closing

         11  exits, and so on, many vehicles, many drivers

         12  decided it wasn't worth it, because they couldn't

         13  easily get to and from it.  I would think that

         14  that's the reason why.  And the logical conclusion

         15  is that if you want to continue that downward

         16  spiral, you continue to close the entrances, until

         17  they total zero.

         18                 And I also, as I alluded to in my

         19  comments earlier, The Gates certainly was not a

         20  comparable situation.  It was an incredible

         21  experience visiting The Gates myself, and I never

         22  saw so many people in Central Park.  I happen to be

         23  there on a 25 degree day.  And in any other 25

         24  degree day, in the wintertime, the park would have

         25  been empty.  There was more people in the park the
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          2  day I was there, on a Saturday or a Sunday, than

          3  I've ever seen in the summertime.  So it's obviously

          4  not comparable.

          5                 MR. SCHALLER: And I would just agree

          6  with those. And I think that what is proposed here

          7  is just a logical extension of the direction we've

          8  been moving.  And all along, we've heard that the

          9  streets will become even more congested, et cetera,

         10  and that's not what we've seen.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  A

         12  question from Council Member Garodnick.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Just one.

         14  Do you think that there would be additional

         15  shrinkage based on the length of time in which the

         16  loop roads remain closed?  Is that something which

         17  would grow over time, when people became more

         18  accustomed to the way they should be traveling?

         19  Adjust their modes of transportation?

         20                 MR. SCHALLER: Right.  The adjustment

         21  would take a period of time, and particularly as

         22  people try other modes, and find, you know,

         23  obviously, there's been a lot of improvement in

         24  public transportation.  And particularly when

         25  walking and biking in the Summer months, and so I
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          2  don't think you can look at one or two weeks and see

          3  what the reaction is in the Winter, and project that

          4  into the summer.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So just to

          6  estimate, in your expert opinion here, what is the

          7  range that we should be expecting, if we were to

          8  close completely the drives in the park, the low end

          9  to the high end, what do you think is the reasonable

         10  expectation?  You said that 15 you thought was on

         11  the low end, although it seems that you would fit

         12  that into the range of a reasonable prediction.  Is

         13  that accurate?

         14                 MR. SCHALLER: I think that's low.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Low, but --

         16                 MR. SCHALLER: Just low period.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Low, as in

         18  off the scale, and not in an appropriate estimation?

         19    Or low as in the lowest end of an appropriate

         20  estimation?

         21                 MR. SCHALLER: I think it's lower than

         22  an appropriate estimation.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.  So

         24  we'll call that the  --  let's call that the bottom

         25  then.  Fifteen percent.  And then what would be the
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          2  high end?

          3                 MR. SCHALLER: And I think the high

          4  end is that it would be hard to statistically

          5  measure the impact on other avenues. In other words,

          6  within the normal day- to- day ups and downs of

          7  traffic, which is quite substantial, I think the

          8  noise of that, it may be difficult to even detect

          9  the impact of closing the drives.            COUNCIL

         10  MEMBER GARODNICK: I'm not sure I understand the

         11  answer to that question.  I really just want to

         12  know, in terms of the reduction in the number of

         13  cars and other vehicles going through, there are

         14  predictions out there.  When I brought up the number

         15  of 20 to 60 percent as a number for shrinkage to the

         16  DOT, they say, well, those numbers were just pulled

         17  out of the air.  And they throw out the number

         18  specifically with the bridge, or with other

         19  examples. What I want to know is, the range.  The

         20  reasonable range of expectation here, from your

         21  perspective.  Fifteen percent, I understand very

         22  clearly to be the low end.  What do you think is the

         23  highest possible estimation for shrinkage as a

         24  result of the closing of the loop drives?

         25                 MR. SCHALLLER: Right.  At the high
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          2  end, I would say that you know, not being able to

          3  really see any impact on the streets and avenues

          4  around the park, I wouldn't be surprised if the

          5  study did not show  --  was not able to conclude

          6  that there was really any impact.  In other words,

          7  to say it the other way 100 percent shrinkage, or

          8  just an absorption into the street grid of that

          9  traffic.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So you

         11  think that's possible.

         12                 MR. SCHALLER: I think that's

         13  possible.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: One hundred

         15  percent.

         16                 MR. SCHALLER: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         19  Member Garodnick. I want to thank you both for

         20  testifying today.  It's been extremely helpful.

         21  We'll be sure to specifically invite you at future

         22  hearings.  Thank you.  Great.

         23                 Next, we'll hear from Kenneth

         24  Coughlin, Chad Marlowe and Paul White, from

         25  Transportation Alternatives, joined by Teresa Toro,
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          2  from Tri- State Transportation Campaign.

          3                 Following this panel, we'll hear from

          4  one lone witness, Alvin Berk.  And after Mr. Berk

          5  testifies, we'll hear from the final panel,

          6  consisting of Patrick Kinney, Landon Wickham, Erik

          7  Cliette, and George Haikalis.

          8                 Please proceed in any order you would

          9  like.

         10                 MR. WHITE: Thank you Chairman Liu,

         11  and good morning. I'm Paul Steely White, Executive

         12  Director of Transportation Alternatives.  To my

         13  right, Chad Marlowe, of the Public Advocacy Group,

         14  Counsel for Transportation Alternatives on this

         15  matter; Ken Coughlin, the Chair of Transportation

         16  Alternative's Car- Free Central Park Committee; and

         17  Teresa Toro, from the Tri- State Transportation

         18  Campaign.

         19                 Chairman Liu, thank you for convening

         20  this hearing on Intro. 276.  Currently, the loop

         21  road of Central Park is subject to vehicular traffic

         22  weekday mornings from seven to ten a.m., and weekday

         23  evenings from four to seven p.m.  Prospect Park's

         24  loop road is currently subject to vehicular traffic

         25  on weekday mornings from seven to nine a.m., and
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          2  again in the evening, from five to seven p.m.  It's

          3  been pointed out several times this morning that

          4  these car hours represent roughly ten percent of all

          5  of the hours of the week.  And that advocates should

          6  accept the compromise that we have today, and that

          7  there is a healthy balance.  The problem with that

          8  is that these car hours represent prime recreational

          9  time for New Yorkers.  This is precisely the time

         10  when people want to be exercising and enjoying the

         11  park in the morning, and especially for children, in

         12  the afternoon.

         13                 Intro. 276 would change these hours

         14  during the Summer months of 2006, so that Central

         15  Park's loop road would be entirely free from

         16  vehicular traffic, and fully open to non motorized

         17  recreational use, on every single Summer day, from

         18  June 24 to September 24.  Also, under 276, Prospect

         19  Park's loop road would receive the same treatment,

         20  except, and this is a very significant except, or

         21  caveat, for the two- hour period during weekday

         22  mornings, when, due to potentially problematic

         23  impacts to Prospect Park Southwest, Prospect Park's

         24  loop would remain subject to vehicular traffic.  So,

         25  a correction for the record, the bill would not, in
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          2  fact, close Prospect Park during the weekday

          3  mornings in recognition of the traffic function that

          4  the loop road currently serves during the morning.

          5  That would require more planning, we believe, from

          6  the City DOT to mitigate those impacts.

          7                 Yesterday, the City Department of

          8  Transportation unveiled its fractional closure plan

          9  for the park loops.  Intro. 276 offers New Yorkers

         10  three things that the DOT's fractional closure plan

         11  does not.  One, safety.  By closing the loops fully,

         12  instead of just a portion, Intro. 276 will not lull

         13  park users into a false sense of security.  And

         14  Intro. 276 will not subject park users to

         15  unacceptable danger by forcing them to abruptly

         16  adjust to alternating and confusing car- free, and

         17  car- full sections of the park loop roads.

         18                 Second, Intro. 276 offers simplicity.

         19    Instead of a confusing fractional closure that

         20  closes alternate sides of the parks, Intro. 276, by

         21  closing the loops all day in Central Park, and all

         22  afternoon and evening in Prospect Park, makes it

         23  easy for drivers and park users alike to plan their

         24  park activity accordingly.

         25                 Third, equality.  Intro. 276 grants
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          2  all neighborhoods around both parks equal

          3  opportunity to coveted traffic- free recreation.

          4  While the DOT's fractional closure plan leaves the

          5  neediest neighborhoods around both parks with zero

          6  car free hours during the afternoon and evenings.

          7  Prime recreational time for our youngsters, in

          8  particular.

          9                 Intro. 276 is, however, similar to

         10  the DOT's fractional closure plan, in that it would

         11  require a study of the traffic impact of the

         12  proposed changes.  We've heard a lot this morning

         13  about the value of that study in the view of our

         14  City's traffic experts.  On both sides of the aisle.

         15                 Central and Prospect Parks are two of

         16  the greatest parks in this City, this State, this

         17  country, and the world.  Each year, more than 25

         18  million people now enjoy Central Park, and more than

         19  seven million now annually enjoy Prospect Park.  It

         20  is my own educated guess that not one of these more

         21  than 32 million people visit either park to

         22  experience the wonders of vehicular traffic.

         23  For that, they need only visit any one of the 6,000

         24  miles of New York City streets.  Not the ten miles

         25  of these two loop roads.  For many of these 32
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          2  million annual park visitors, Central and Prospect

          3  Parks represent their only chance to get away from

          4  it all.  Let's remember that the majority of New

          5  Yorkers do not have Summer homes, island getaways,

          6  or even health club memberships.  For many park

          7  users, these parks represent their only Summer

          8  getaway.  Their only back yard, their only

          9  opportunity for recreation.

         10                 And, as it's been said this morning,

         11  let us also remember, the parks, by definition, are

         12  not for cars.  The two loops in particular, were not

         13  designed or built for cars.  The designers of the

         14  parks, Frederick Law Olmsted, and Calvert Vaux,

         15  designed the loop roads for slow- moving, horse-

         16  drawn carriages. Crowded thoroughfares, Olmsted

         17  wrote,  have nothing in common with the park proper.

         18    But everything, at variance with those agreeable

         19  sentiments, which we should wish the park to

         20  inspire.

         21                 This is, of course, why the loops in

         22  both parks were built as bucolic carriage roads,

         23  that curve and roll in a stylized way, that makes

         24  strolling joyous, and driving particularly

         25  dangerous.
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          2                 I might point out that when the plans

          3  for both parks were being considered by the City,

          4  one plan in particular included a straight highway

          5  of sorts, through Central Park.  I think it was

          6  called "Cathedral Avenue".  That plan was rejected,

          7  for the very reasons that it was counter to the

          8  whole reason why the park was being created for in

          9  the first place.  Not as a highway, but as a refuge.

         10

         11                 Intro. 276 would not push the park in

         12  a direction it has never been.  On the contrary, it

         13  would return the park to its original intended

         14  state.  Some of you may think that that was then,

         15  and this is now.  You may think that cars have long

         16  been a part of Central and Prospect Parks for so

         17  long, that to close the park to traffic, even

         18  temporarily, would result in unimaginably

         19  nightmarish traffic on surrounding streets.  This is

         20  not the case.

         21                 I might point out that we've heard

         22  the DOT's nightmarish traffic predictions before.

         23  Not just in terms of the incremental closures that

         24  have occurred in both parks over the years, which

         25  were virtually almost always preceded by doomsday
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          2  scenarios from the DOT.  But also in places like

          3  Queens Boulevard

          4  where for years, the DOT said that to give

          5  pedestrians more crossing time would back traffic up

          6  all the way to Montauk. Ultimately, the DOT did give

          7  pedestrians more crossing time on Queens Boulevard,

          8  which is why it's no longer the Boulevard of Death,

          9  but it's now perhaps the Boulevard of Severe Injury.

         10    But the point is, is that pedestrians were given

         11  that extra time, and traffic nightmares did not

         12  ensue.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Hey Paul.  We

         14  appreciate your very thoughtful testimony.  You're

         15  about  --  you're almost a third of the way into

         16  your testimony, so maybe you'll give us a chance to

         17  hear from the others as well.  Do you want to  --

         18                 MR. WHITE: I'll speed it up.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Just say it from

         20  your gut.  How badly you want the parks to be car

         21  free.

         22                 MR. WHITE: Chairman Liu, I want this

         23  badly.  But I don't just speak for myself.  I speak

         24  for over 100,000 New Yorkers who have gone on the

         25  record to say that they just don't want a three-
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          2  month trial closure, they want the full thing.  They

          3  want a completely car- free park.

          4                 So Intro. 276, in our estimation,

          5  already represents a very fair compromise.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

          7  Mr. Coughlin. Oh, I'm sorry.  Did I skip somebody?

          8  Chad, you said you're not here to testify.

          9                 MR. MARLOWE: No, I'm not here to

         10  testify.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Just to be Paul's

         12  counsel.  Okay, great.   Thank you.

         13

         14                 MR. WHITE: If I may, just in lieu of

         15  Chad's testimony, answer a particular question about

         16  traffic impacts around Prospect Park that has been

         17  put  --

         18                 There is a lot of concern about the

         19  potential impacts on Flatbush, in particular.  And I

         20  would like to go to this tripod here, where we have

         21  a map of Prospect Park.  Many of you have probably

         22  heard of Sam Schwartz, from the former DOT

         23  Commissioner, who, in the 1970s actually coined the

         24  term, "gridlock".  Sam Schwartz is known as perhaps

         25  our foremost expert on matters of traffic and
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          2  transportation in New York City.  And on the likely

          3  impacts of a Prospect Park evening closure, Sam

          4  Schwartz recently wrote, and I'm quoting from him

          5  now, "There will be some reduction of traffic in the

          6  corridor by drivers who elect to take the BQE

          7  Gowanus to the Prospect Expressway." I.e., shrinkage

          8  or traffic reduction. "The dominant pattern for

          9  evening traffic through the park is south and west

         10  from Grand Army Plaza to Park Circle.  So this is

         11  where the desire line is for motorists in the

         12  evening.  Most of the traffic that would be diverted

         13  during an evening closure would use Prospect Park

         14  West to bartel Pritchard Square, that's here.  At

         15  the square, much of the traffic turns left onto

         16  Prospect Park Southwest.  Some traffic would

         17  continue on Prospect Park West to 20th Street, or

         18  other southbound routes. Under an evening closure

         19  plan, a smaller number would use Flatbush Avenue to

         20  Empire Boulevard, Ocean Avenue.  That stretch of

         21  Flatbush Avenue has excess capacity, and moves well.

         22  It would continue to move acceptably if the park

         23  were closed".

         24                 Thank you Chairman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Paul.  Mr.
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          2  Coughlin.

          3                 MR. COUGHLIN: Good morning Chairman

          4  Liu and Members of the Transportation Committee.  My

          5  name is Kenneth Coughlin.  I am a board member of

          6  Transportation Alternatives, and for the past

          7  decade, I have spearheaded the campaign for a car-

          8  free Central Park.

          9                 I'm here to enthusiastically endorse

         10  Intro. 276. Because of the traffic that has been

         11  allowed to invade Central Park's loop road, there is

         12  no one alive today who has had a chance to

         13  experience for a sustained period what Central

         14  Park's creators wanted us to experience, the

         15  illusion of nature in the midst of a great city.

         16  With the passage of Intro, 276, all of us will get

         17  that chance this Summer.

         18                 My remarks today are not just on

         19  behalf of myself or Transportation Alternatives, but

         20  also on behalf of the more than 102,000 people who

         21  have signed the petition calling for a car- free

         22  Central Park.

         23                 These are runners, cyclists, skaters,

         24  walkers, ballplayers, bird watchers, mothers,

         25  fathers, children, all of whom who want Central Park
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          2  to finally be what it was intended to be, a true

          3  refuge from the surrounding City,

          4                 I and the other volunteers we

          5  collected these 102,000 signatures know first hand

          6  how wildly popular this cause is among park users

          7  and visitors.  A handful of volunteers would stand

          8  along the loop road, posters and clipboards in hand,

          9  and people would literally begin to line up to sign.

         10    Three hundred signatures was typical on a Summer

         11  evening.  One day, we had 1,380 signers in the space

         12  of three hours.

         13                 But these numbers cannot begin to

         14  convey how passionately New Yorkers feel about this

         15  issue.  For that, I recommend a 20- minute

         16  documentary, called "The Case for a Car- Free

         17  Central Park", which is available on DVD or online,

         18  and the web address is on my testimony.

         19                 There also is no adequate way to

         20  express the sense of threat that recreational users

         21  feel when cars are in the park. Here are a few of

         22  the comments from among the hundreds that we've

         23  received on the subject.

         24                  "I was hit by someone trying to

         25  avoid being hit a car.  My bike was ruined, and we

                                                            102

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  were both bruised.  All this because someone wanted

          3  to save one minute by taking a cab through the

          4  park".

          5                 " I have had my own near- hit

          6  experiences in the park.  Please make it safe for me

          7  and my children".

          8                  "I am a runner.  You can feel the

          9  exhaust in your lungs".

         10                  "I love to rollerblade in the park,

         11  but will not go in after three p.m., because of the

         12  cars".

         13                  "My boyfriend was recently hit by a

         14  car while biking through Central Park.  He was in

         15  the bike lane, and, unfortunately, so was the car."

         16                 And finally, "I work at the United

         17  Nations, and my job often takes me into harms way.

         18  However, the most dangerous thing that I do, in

         19  terms of real risk, is to ride my bike in Central

         20  Park on weekday mornings."

         21                 When I became involved with this

         22  campaign 15 years ago, I greatly under- estimated

         23  the fear that surrounds taking a small privilege

         24  away from motorists.  Even if it means returning the

         25  world's most famous urban park to its rightful
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          2  users.

          3                 But I believe we're at a tipping

          4  point on this issue.  Our nation is searching for

          5  ways to decrease reliance on oil, and reduce carbon

          6  emissions.  Closing Central Park to traffic, even

          7  for the Summer, is eminently sound public policy,

          8  because it will result in fewer cars on our streets.

          9                 I'm proud that the primary sponsor of

         10  this bill is my incredibly hard- working City

         11  Council Member, Gale Brewer.  I urge you to follow

         12  her lead and approve Intro. 276.  It's a small step

         13  that will pay off in a huge quality of life gain for

         14  all of New York.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Mr.

         16  Coughlin.  Ms. Toro.

         17                 MR. WHITE: Chairman, if I may.  Just

         18  a quick note, Mr. Coughlin's testimony mentioned the

         19  video, "The Case for a Car Free Central Park".  This

         20  is included with our testimony today to the Council.

         21                 MS. TORO: Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         22  I'm Teresa Toro, New York City Coordinator for the

         23  Tri- State Transportation Campaign.  I urge the

         24  Council to pass Introduction 276, calling for a car-

         25  free Summer in Central and Prospect Parks.
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          2                 It's important to note that the bill

          3  directs our Transportation Commissioner to study the

          4  areas surrounding the parks for any traffic impact

          5  of banning cars from the loop drives, and report to

          6  the Mayor by years's end.

          7                 For years, City administrations have

          8  offered a litany of excuses for allowing a small

          9  handful of motorists to use the City's two most

         10  famous parks as high- speed shortcuts.  City traffic

         11  managers made similar arguments in the 1950s, that

         12  closing Washington Square Park to traffic would

         13  flood the surrounding area with cars, but public

         14  pressure was strong enough, so that in 1958, the

         15  Board of Estimate ordered a temporary closing of the

         16  park to test whether traffic would lessen or become

         17  worse.

         18                 On October 30, 1958, Washington

         19  Square Park was closed to cars.  The New York Tines

         20  noted, "Observation during different periods of the

         21  day revealed no congestion.  The police reported no

         22  trouble".  A community leader at traffic closing

         23  ceremony noted that where the park was once a

         24  potter's field, it had now become "a burial ground

         25  for certain individuals with an antiquated notions
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          2  of city planning".

          3                 We predict a full test of car- less

          4  Central and Prospect Parks will yield similar

          5  trouble- free results, and discredit the incredible

          6  persistence of antiquated traffic engineering

          7  perspectives at DOT, nearly 50 years after Fifth

          8  Avenue was removed from Washington Square Park, a

          9  victory for the citizens who championed it,

         10  including the late, great Jane Jacobs.

         11                 Threatening traffic chaos is the

         12  historic reason for resisting car- free parks, and

         13  it was as unfounded in 1958 as it is today.

         14  Transportation Commissioner Weinshall recently said

         15  the Central Park loop drive is a key commuting

         16  artery for the City, even though the amount of

         17  traffic handled by the drive is negligible in

         18  relation to Manhattan's street grid and perimeter

         19  highways.

         20                 Her position was belied yesterday by

         21  Mayor Bloomberg, who announced that some of Central

         22  Park's and Prospect Park's drives will be closed in

         23  the mornings for a six- month trial. Even though

         24  this is a watered- down version of the Council's

         25  proposed legislation, it grudgingly acknowledges
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          2  that these park loops are not vital commuting

          3  arteries.

          4                 Mayor Bloomberg has acknowledged New

          5  York City residents' wishes by extending car- less

          6  hours in Prospect and Central Parks.  But why not

          7  test the entirely car- free Summer that the City

          8  Council proposes, instead of the version offered

          9  yesterday by the Mayor?

         10                 What is the Bloomberg Administration

         11  afraid of? Intro. 276 offers both a trial period and

         12  a study to measure its success.  There is absolutely

         13  no reason not to do it, but there are millions of

         14  reasons to do it.  One for every New Yorker who uses

         15  Prospect or Central Park to run, bike, rollerblade,

         16  walk, and enjoy the scenery.  The Council can make

         17  this plan a reality, and urge you to pass this bill.

         18    Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         20    I want to thank the panel for providing their

         21  important input today.  Thanks very much.

         22                 We've been joined by Council Member

         23  Kendall Steward, from Brooklyn.  Welcome.

         24                 Next, we'll hear from Mr. Alvin Berk.

         25    Please proceed to the witness table.  And then
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          2  following Mr. Berk, we'll hear from a panel

          3  consisting of Patrick Kinney, Landon Wickham, Erik

          4  Cliette, and George Haikalis.

          5                 Mr. Berk, please proceed.

          6                 MR. BERK: Thank you Chairman Liu.

          7  Thank you Members of the Council.  I'm going to

          8  deviate from the prepared testimony, Chairman, with

          9  you permission, and just address a few points that

         10  may respond to some of the testimony you've heard

         11  earlier today.

         12                 My name is Alvin Berk.  I am Chairman

         13  of Brooklyn Community Board 14, which comprises

         14  Flatbush and Midwood.  The area of Brooklyn, the

         15  primarily residential area of Brooklyn immediately

         16  south of Prospect Park.  So I am going to speak

         17  about the effects of Intro. 276 on Prospect Park

         18  traffic, and on traffic within Community District

         19  14.

         20                 My specific concern is about  --  or

         21  the Board's specific concern is about northbound

         22  traffic in Prospect Park. Northbound traffic through

         23  Prospect Park drives generally enters at Park

         24  Circle, and before there, it goes north on Coney

         25  Island Avenue.  The 1997 study by the Department of
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          2  Transportation showed that during peak morning

          3  hours, in excess of 900 cars per our entered

          4  Prospect Park at Park Circle.  DOT made the

          5  assumption that 50 percent of those cars would be

          6  diverted onto Prospect Park Southwest, and 50

          7  percent of those cars would be diverted onto

          8  Parkside Avenue going east.

          9                 Parkside Avenue is a residential

         10  street.  DOT's analysis showed that where Parkside

         11  Avenue intersected with Ocean Avenue, there would be

         12  an increase, and a worsening of the level of service

         13  to intolerable levels that could not be mitigated by

         14  normal means.  The concern that we have is, as you

         15  know, traffic light timing is a zero sum game.  And

         16  if you lengthen the traffic light cycle on Parkside

         17  Avenue, you are necessarily going to shorten it on

         18  Ocean Avenue.  Which is also a major northbound

         19  commuting route. So if you divert traffic from

         20  Prospect Park northbound, you are going to hurt

         21  traffic on Parkside or Ocean Avenues, or both.

         22                 And our concern at Community Board

         23  14, Chairman Liu, is for the residents of Flatbush,

         24  for the people who live in the bedrooms on Parkside

         25  Avenue and on Ocean Avenue.
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          2                 Chairman Liu, I would address this

          3  question.  I hope, not as a rhetorical question, but

          4  one that the Transportation Committee can address

          5  substantively.  What will the measure of success be?

          6    Will it simply be a measure of how many cars are

          7  diverted onto the perimeter streets if Prospect Park

          8  drives are closed?  Or will there be an

          9  epidemiological analysis that will show the effects

         10  of the increased vehicular emissions from cars

         11  backed up at the intersections as a result of the

         12  worsened level of service?  And when will that

         13  analysis be done?  What I'm suggesting sir, is that

         14  simply looking at the numbers of cars is a

         15  superficial measure.  And that when you have cars

         16  backed up in intersections because they are forced

         17  to, because their main thoroughfares have been

         18  diverted, that's when the exhaust emissions become

         19  particularly problematic.  Conceivably rising to the

         20  level that could warrant, deserve an EPA warrant.

         21                 One of the earlier speakers from

         22  Transportation Alternatives spoke with some sarcasm,

         23  I might add, about the 32 million visitors to

         24  Central Park  and Prospect Park and that they don't

         25  go there for the wonders of motor vehicles.  I don't
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          2  remember what his specific words were.  But were she

          3  not out of state, because her sister passed away,

          4  Barbara Sheeran, who is a resident of Flatbush, a

          5  woman of a certain age, to be polite about it, Ms.

          6  Sheeran has testified repeatedly at hearings on this

          7  matter, that the way she prefers to enjoy Prospect

          8  Park, because she has limited ambulatory ability, is

          9  she loves to drive through Prospect Park. It is

         10  analogous to the original carriage use that Olmsted

         11  and Vaux contemplated in the 1860s when they built

         12  those parks.

         13                 With respect to testimony by Sam

         14  Schwartz, whom I know very well, and respect highly,

         15  spoke about southbound evening traffic.  I would

         16  point out to you sir, and to your Committee Members,

         17  that Mr. Schwartz did not address the impact of

         18  northbound traffic, and how it would impact the

         19  streets to the south of Prospect Park.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Berk, I think we

         21  understand the point of your testimony.

         22                 MR. BERK: Well, I'm sure you

         23  understand the general point, what I'm trying to

         24  address, Chairman, is some specific points that were

         25  made, that I believe deserve a rebuttal.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You don't need to

          3  rebut everything that has been mentioned at this

          4  hearing.  We take all the input, including the input

          5  from you.  We also get input outside this hearing,

          6  specifically from the Brooklyn President.  And so,

          7  these are all factors that we take into

          8  consideration when determining whether or not to

          9  proceed with this bill.

         10                 MR. BERK: With all due respect,

         11  Chairman, the Brooklyn Borough President  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: With all due

         13  respect, Mr. Schwartz wasn't even here today.  And

         14  so, when you are rebutting Mr. Schwartz's comments,

         15  I find that a little difficult to do, because he

         16  wasn't even here.  So  --

         17                 MR. BERK: Well then let me direct the

         18  rebuttal at Paul Steely White, from Transportation

         19  Alternatives, who cited Mr. Schwartz.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Berk, why don't

         21  you proceed with the remainder of your testimony?

         22  And then we will proceed to other witnesses.  I may

         23  have questions for you, concerning your testimony.

         24  So I would encourage you to be focused on your

         25  testimony first.
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          2                 MR. BERK: Chairman Liu, there are

          3  those who are very concerned about the narrowness of

          4  the advocacy for closing Prospect Park to vehicular

          5  traffic.  Although many people signed  --  and I

          6  acknowledge this, because Transportation

          7  Alternatives is a very effective advocacy

          8  organization, and they have gotten thousands and

          9  thousands of signatures in favor of closing the park

         10  drives.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: This hearing is not

         12  about Transportation Alternatives.  Please  --

         13                 MR. BERK: Mr. Chairman, with all due

         14  respect sir, you're treating me with a degree of

         15  hostility that has not been evident with other

         16  witnesses.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: There is no

         18  hostility directed against you.  I simply am

         19  encouraging you to present your testimony.

         20                 MR. BERK: Allow me to do so.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You have been

         22  testifying for ten minutes now.  So please proceed

         23  with your testimony.

         24                 MR. BERK: First of all sir, I believe

         25  that that is incorrect.  Second of all sir, I cannot
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          2  imagine that I have testified as long as some of the

          3  previous witnesses.  But I will finish up sir.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You have been

          5  afforded as much time as any other witness, except

          6  for the Commissioners at the Department of

          7  Transportation.

          8                 MR. BERK: Chairman, I will finish up

          9  then.

         10                 Community Board 15 is trying to

         11  protect the interests of the residents of Flatbush.

         12  We oppose any further restrictions on vehicular

         13  traffic in Prospect Park that would cause diversion

         14  of traffic onto the streets of Flatbush.  That's the

         15  simplicity of our testimony.  We stand by that.  And

         16  we appreciate the opportunity to offer it.  Thank

         17  you sir.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  So is it

         19  safe for us to assume that Community Board 14 in

         20  Brooklyn has taken a vote on this issue?

         21                 MR. BERK: Yes sir.  It is safe to

         22  assume that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And do you recall

         24  what date that vote was taken?

         25                 MR. BERK: No sir, I don't.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But within the last,

          3  say six months.

          4                 MR. BERK: No sir.  The Board has

          5  discussed this, and it is a matter of record in the

          6  minutes of the Board, that the Board continues to

          7  support the position it took earlier.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Oh, but there has

          9  been no vote on this particular matter.

         10                 MR. BERK: Chair Liu, with all due

         11  respect, Community Board 14 operates by its own

         12  deliberative rules sir.  We would no sooner suggest

         13  to the Council how the Council reaches its

         14  conclusions than we think you should suggest how

         15  Community Board 14 reaches its conclusions.  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I haven't asked you

         17  about  --

         18                 MR. BERK: The Board is united on this

         19  matter, sir. I would not make that representation

         20  publicly if it were not so.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And I never

         22  questioned whether or not the Board or not was

         23  resolute.  I simply asked if the Board had taken a

         24  vote.  You said yes.  I said within the last six

         25  months, you said no.  It's very simple.  There's a
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          2  question from Council Member Brewer.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 I want to just comment on the

          6  disabled issue, because I strongly agree not only

          7  disabled but seniors, and in my district, we have

          8  hundreds and hundreds of seniors.  And what I'd

          9  actually thought about was that for those who would

         10  not be able to go to the park unless they had

         11  transportation that was wheeled in some way, would

         12  be trolleys.  Something similar to what we have now,

         13  accessible to the restaurants.  Again, this may only

         14  be Central Park.  I'm not as familiar with Prospect

         15  Park.  But an accessible trolley actually does exist

         16  now just for access to the restaurant in the middle

         17  of the park.  But something that was more available

         18  timewise, et cetera.

         19                 So I just wanted to mention that as

         20  something that I had thought about.  And obviously,

         21  many residents would take advantage of that.

         22                 And then the second issue is, I

         23  thought your concern about health beyond the

         24  confines of the park is something that should be

         25  studied.  Again, Prospect Park, Central Park, they
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          2  have different surrounding communities.  But that's

          3  something that could be looked at.  I just wanted to

          4  say that those should be part  -- I obviously

          5  support closing the parks, but I feel that you have

          6  some valid points.  Thank you.

          7                 MR. BERK: Thank you Council Member

          8  Brewer.  I just want to comment Chairman Liu, with

          9  respect to the trolley.  The Prospect Park Alliance

         10  does operate such a trolley within Prospect Park.

         11  And it's a lovely way to look at the park if you

         12  can't walk through it.  The issue of course is how

         13  do you get to the park if you have limited mobility.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm just  --

         15  in our situation, it goes right to the edge.  That

         16  may not be the one in yours.  But the routes could

         17  be worked out.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         19  Council Member Brewer.  Thank you very much Mr. Berk

         20  for your testimony.

         21                 MR. BERK: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm sorry.  Mr.

         23  Berk.  We do have one more question from Council

         24  Member Kendall Stewart.

         25                 MR. BERK: Certainly.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you Mr.

          3  Chair.

          4                 I thought this issue came up some

          5  years ago about trying to divert the traffic, and

          6  there was a vote on Community Board 14 that was

          7  taken, and also there was some petition that was

          8  generated not to divert the traffic from Prospect

          9  Park.  A couple of years ago?

         10                 MR. BERK: Yes, thank you Council

         11  Member.  And the point in fact  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I just want

         13  to clear that up, because I know I was partly

         14  involved with that, and because if anyone is to take

         15  the ride down Flatbush Avenue or Ocean during those

         16  hours that is contemplated, they will find that the

         17  traffic is horrendous.  And only with the fact that

         18  we have an alternative route through Prospect Park,

         19  that we can tolerate it.  I can assume that if

         20  Prospect Park is closed out, and it would be very

         21  much more difficult.  And I just want to express

         22  that.  Thank you.

         23                 MR. BERK: Thank you sir.  Chairman

         24  Liu, just one further comment on the issue of the

         25  vote.  It may be enlightening. It is precisely
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          2  because Transportation Alternatives has been so

          3  resolute about this, that Community Board 14 has

          4  found it necessary each year, since 1998, to take a

          5  position in opposition to further closings of

          6  Prospect Park to vehicular traffic.  So our position

          7  is not dated at all sir.  It's an ongoing thing,

          8  because Transportation Alternatives has an ongoing

          9  campaign.  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         11    We appreciate that point.

         12                 Our final panel, consisting of Mr.

         13  Patrick Kinney, Mr. Eric Cliette, Landon Wickham,

         14  and George Haikalis.  Please proceed to the witness

         15  table.  Mr. Kinney, please proceed.

         16                 MR. KINNEY: I'm Pat Kinney.  I'm a

         17  professor at Columbia University School of Public

         18  Health, Department of Health Sciences.  My expertise

         19  is in the human health affects of air pollution,

         20  especially as it relates to motor vehicle exhausts.

         21  I've been studying this subject for over 25 years,

         22  and have written a bunch of papers on the subject.

         23  And I have, since coming to Columbia about ten years

         24  ago, a lot of my research has focused on motor

         25  vehicle exhaust and health affects in New York City,

                                                            119

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  specifically.  I also contribute to the federal

          3  setting of air quality standards, and also, the

          4  state of California's recent revision of the ozone

          5  standards.

          6                 So that's where I'm coming from.  And

          7  I just was here to testify very briefly about the

          8  health affects of motor vehicle exhausts, which is

          9  something that's been alluded to, but not expanded

         10  on by previous people.

         11                 And I just want to point out a couple

         12  of things. First off, freshly- generated motor

         13  vehicle exhausts contains a variety of toxic

         14  materials.  And we know that when those are inhaled

         15  into our lungs, they can promote a variety of

         16  adverse health affects.  And the three that are most

         17  obvious in the studies that have been done in the

         18  last ten years, are asthma, heart disease, and lung

         19  cancer.

         20            The most important pollutant of concern

         21  that comes out of motor vehicles is fine particles.

         22  And these are tiny particles that are capable of

         23  penetrating deep into our airways, lodging in the

         24  lungs, where the tissues are most vulnerable.  And

         25  we got evidence, in the last ten or so years, that
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          2  fine particles cause an increased risk of premature

          3  deaths due to heart disease and lung cancer.  And

          4  this risk appears to accumulate over time, in a

          5  manner similar to cigarette smoking.  In other

          6  words, cigarette smoking is a good analogy to the

          7  way that fine particles affect health, and that over

          8  time, the damage accumulates, and the risk of

          9  disease and death increases.  But also, that if you

         10  remove the exposure, that recovery can occur, to

         11  some extent, just like with people who stop smoking

         12  cigarettes.

         13                 So also, we've got evidence from

         14  recent studies that fine particles can increase the

         15  likelihood of having an asthma attack.

         16                 And finally, that there's a lot of

         17  nasty components besides fine particles in motor

         18  vehicle exhausts that are known to be carcinogenic,

         19  in other words, can cause cancer.

         20                 So those are some reasons why it's

         21  always a good thing, if we can, to reduce public's

         22  exposure to air pollution. And I think that the last

         23  person who testified raised a good point that it's

         24  always important also to weigh the benefits and

         25  costs. And I would argue you know, based on initial
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          2  sort of mental analysis, but I think a further study

          3  should be done.  But I would argue that the

          4  benefits, the health benefits that would occur in

          5  the parks would outweigh those potential health

          6  affects that might occur due to diversion outside.

          7                 One of the main reasons for that is

          8  because people who are in the park, who are

          9  exercising, are breathing much more heavily.  And we

         10  know that there is something like a ten- fold

         11  increase in the deposition of pollution in the

         12  lungs, and resulting health affects.  So having

         13  pollution right next to you in the park is a bad

         14  thing.  And it's not a good thing to have it on the

         15  streets around the park either, but it's a little

         16  bit better because there's not people, as many

         17  people, jogging and exercising along those

         18  sidewalks.

         19                 So for those reasons, I support the

         20  idea of trying this out, and I also would strongly

         21  recommend that in addition to studying the traffic

         22  impacts that we try to think about looking at the

         23  air pollution and health impacts that result as

         24  well.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much
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          2  Mr. Kinney. Mr. Cliette.

          3                 MR. CLIETTE: Thank you Chairman Liu.

          4  I wanted to say, thank you for giving us the

          5  opportunity to be before you.

          6                 I represent the Harlem Hospital

          7  Injury Prevention Program, also known as Injury Free

          8  Coalition for Kids, Harlem.  And since we've had a

          9  good presentation as it relates to pollution that

         10  adversely affects athletes, folks that run,

         11  participate in the park, I'll just talk about how

         12  this pollution in the park, issues in the park,

         13  relate to children.

         14                 We run a variety of children's

         15  programs, primarily out of Harlem Hospital.  And one

         16  of the things that we've done prior to actually

         17  having children participate in Central Park, was we

         18  did studies that revealed that lots of children were

         19  being struck by automobiles.  Conversely, we had to

         20  petition the City and the State to close off some of

         21  the streets, and we had children now move into

         22  playgrounds, which were safe play areas, because we

         23  wanted children to be safe in the recreational

         24  hours.

         25                 Similarly, when we think about
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          2  Central Park, it's sort of the same issue.  For

          3  years, we've had programs that participate in

          4  Central Park, and certainly between the hours of

          5  three and seven o'clock, when children are no longer

          6  in school, and before dinner.  And children are

          7  looking for outlets for places in which they can

          8  enjoy the views of the park, the recreational

          9  benefits of the park.

         10                 We believe that having vehicles not

         11  available in Central Park in particular, is a great

         12  idea.  So I'm just going to cut to the chase and say

         13  that we are certainly in support of the bill.  We

         14  appreciate that the Council would sit and hear our

         15  arguments.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         17                 MR. WICKHAM: Hi.  Good afternoon.  My

         18  name is Landon Wickham.  And I also am from the

         19  Harlem Hospital Injury Prevention Program.  I

         20  actually run the Urban Youth Bike Project, which is

         21  a program of the Harlem Hospital Injury Prevention

         22  Program.

         23                 I am happy to be able to speak on

         24  this issue.  And my big concern here is that

         25  children, thousands of children, surround the park.
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          2  And for years, this park has not been accessible to

          3  children.  The most important thing is that, as Mr.

          4  Cliette mentioned, is that schools get out

          5  approximately around 2:30, and traffic in the park

          6  begins, or reenters the park at 3 o'clock.  I

          7  appreciate the Mayor's effort in you know, giving us

          8  half park, so on either side during rush- hour

          9  periods, but I truly believe that we need to

         10  completely shut down the park for the intended time,

         11  as the proposal 276 states.

         12                 I don't have statistics to present to

         13  you, but you know, what we represent is the real

         14  world aspects, as was used quite often, the real

         15  world aspects of park usage.  Myself, a cyclists,

         16  also a Program Coordinator for a youth program, we

         17  need the access to the park.  And the access doesn't

         18  necessarily, for us, stop when the Summer months are

         19  over.  I'm hoping that the Council and whoever are

         20  advocates for this particular program will do their

         21  best to make sure that this becomes a permanent

         22  statistic.

         23                 I also am a resident of the Westside,

         24  and I live on the corner of 110th Street.  So I've

         25  gotten to see park closures due to major runs.  I
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          2  have seen park closures due to The Gates. I've seen

          3  park closures due to the marathon.  And I live on

          4  the corner of 110th Street, where they are currently

          5  putting in a traffic circle.  And we've been told by

          6  DOT and many other organizations that traffic

          7  circles are calming devices, to make traffic flow a

          8  little bit easier.  And what I personally believe is

          9  that, because of my access in looking out my window,

         10  and I totally recommend that any Council Person

         11  stand on that corner and look at it, it is not as

         12  big an issue as DOT makes it out to be.

         13                 Diverting traffic is not a problem.

         14  And I truly believe that you have to work hard to

         15  make sure that this becomes a permanent staple in

         16  the City.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  Mr.

         18  Haikalis.

         19                 MR. HAIKALIS: I'm George Haikalis.

         20  And I'm President of the Institute for Rational

         21  Urban Mobility, a New York City- based, not- for-

         22  profit corporation concerned with reducing motor

         23  vehicle use in dense urban areas, and increasing the

         24  livability and economic well being of these places.

         25  I'm a civil engineer, and transportation planner.  I
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          2  served for 19 years with the TriState Regional

          3  Planning Commission, where I was Director of

          4  Research.  I'm a life member of both the American

          5  Society of Civil Engineers, and the Institute for

          6  Transportation Engineers.

          7                 I'm here to express my support for

          8  closing loop drives in both Central Park and

          9  Prospect Park for an experimental period.  Attached

         10  to my statement is a report I prepared for

         11  Transportation Alternatives, that reviewed and took

         12  strong exception to the New York City DOT analysis

         13  of closing Central Park loop drives, done in 1992.

         14  This report is still relevant today. And I would

         15  urge the Committee Members to carefully review its

         16  findings.  A copy is attached to my statement.

         17                 I would like to summarize one of my

         18  report findings relating to traffic shrinkage.  For

         19  many years, TriState, and its successor agency, the

         20  New York Metropolitan Transportation Council, MYMTC,

         21  have assemble motor vehicle and passenger counts on

         22  all roads and transit lines entering and leaving the

         23  Manhattan central business district, south of 60th

         24  Street.  This information is published in an annual

         25  Hub- Bound travel report.  In 1973, the West Side
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          2  Highway was closed to traffic south of 42nd Street,

          3  when a portion of the viaduct collapsed.  The

          4  segment between 72nd Street and 79th Street was

          5  closed for emergency repairs.  The portion of the

          6  highway, from 72nd to 42nd Street remained open to

          7  traffic. Traffic counts at 60th Street showed that

          8  the highway lost 59,000 two- way vehicle trips on an

          9  average week day.  Less than 4,000 of these trips

         10  reappeared on other roads crossing 60th Street.

         11  This was a 93 percent shrinkage.

         12                 Shrinkage is not an unusual

         13  phenomena. (sic) Traffic, to a large extent is

         14  malleable.  Of course, there are consequences.  In

         15  the case of the loop drives, there are many positive

         16  benefits, which almost certainly outweigh the

         17  negatives. Not only will the park become more

         18  enjoyable to pedestrians and cyclists, but metering

         19  traffic before it enters the most congested parts of

         20  the business district will mean that those millions

         21  of person who work or visit the core, will have a

         22  more pleasant walking experience.

         23                 I urge the Committee to act favorably

         24  on this proposals.  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much
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          2  Mr. Haikalis. We want to thank this panel for being

          3  with us this entire hearing, and for your thoughtful

          4  testimony.

          5                 I also want to state for the record

          6  that New Yorkers for Parks has also submitted

          7  written testimony in favor of this legislation.

          8                 There being no other witnesses, this

          9  hearing of the City Council's Transportation

         10  Committee is now adjourned.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 12:41 p.m.)
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